STUDIECENTRUM VOOR ECONOMISCH EN SOCIAAL ONDERZOEK

VAKGROEP TRANSPORT EN RUIMTE

Discrete Choice Modelling in a Context of Spatial Choice Behaviour : A Survey

Frank Witlox (*)

report 94/311

September 1994

(*) I would like to thank Harry Timmermans (Technische Universiteit Eindhoven), Bruno De Borger (UFSIA) and Ann Verhetsel (UFSIA) for their useful comments. As always, all remaining errors are mine.

Universitaire Faculteiten St.-Ignatius Prinsstraat 13 - B 2000 Antwerpen

D/1994/1169/28

Abstract

The primary aim of this paper is to review the fundamental principles of the technique of discrete choice modelling applied to spatial choice behaviour. In particular, two major approaches are distinguished: static and dynamic models.

The most well-known static discrete choice model is the multinomial logit (MNL) model. This model offers a computational advantage that is unmatched by any other static model but suffers from the "independence from irrelevant alternatives" (IIA) axiom. To circumvent this problem, researchers have developed a number of non-IIA choice models such as the general extreme value model, the nested MNL model and the elimination-by-aspects model. At the same time a new modelling approach came to the fore, called decompositional multiattribute preference/choice model. This approach differs from conventional discrete choice models in that the preferences or choice are derived from hypothetical instead of actual choice alternatives. The method offers the advantage of making context-free estimates of the model's parameters which in turn produces somewhat more accurate predictions. Dynamic discrete choice models take account of the time factor in the choice analysis. Most dynamic extensions of static discrete choice models evolve around the problem of how to deal with structural and spurious state dependence? A wide variety of dynamic models exists, but the number of applications is rather restricted.

Contents

Introduction	1
1 Classification of choice models	2
2 Static choice models	7
2.1 Conventional discrete choice models	7
2.1.1 The multinomial probit model 1 2.1.2 The multinomial logit model 1 2.1.3 Non-IIA choice models 2	8
2.2 Compositional multiattribute attitude models	2
2.3 Decompositional multiattribute preference/ choice models	3
2.4 Hybrid evaluation models 4	4
3 Dynamic choice models	6
4 Concluding remarks	2
References 5	4

Introduction

Scientists have always been interested in trying to predict human choice behaviour. This is because when individuals are asked to make a choice among several alternatives, they often experience uncertainty and show inconsistent behaviour. An important explanatory reason is that people are often not sure which alternative they should choose in order to gain the maximum satisfaction or utility, nor do they always select the same alternative under seemingly identical conditions. In order to account for these observed discrepancies choice behaviour is viewed as a probabilistic process.

Historically, psychologists, like Thurstone (1927) and Luce (1959) first made use of probabilistic choice models in an attempt to characterize different patterns of individual choice behaviour. Later, economists, beginning with Block and Marschak (1960), Marschak (1960) and McFadden (1968) developed such models that could pass for an econometric representation of utility maximizing behaviour. In the 1970s, conventional discrete choice models came to the fore (see e.g. Bahrenberg et al., 1984). This branch of analysis is compatible with utility maximizing behaviour, but imposes an explicit discrete character to the choice variables instead of a continuous one. Discrete choices are defined as decisions taken by individuals among a finite set of discrete alternatives. As the alternatives and the choice makers are usually distributed over space, a large number of applications of traditional discrete choice modelling can be found in behaviourial analysis: e.g. choice behaviour with transportation routes and modes, residential and work location, college-choice, shopping and retailing, recreational trips, labour force participation, and industrial location and relocation.

The numerous applications of discrete choice models to spatial problems clearly points out the advantages of the technique but it also poses the question whether the underlying theoretical considerations remain valid in the various spatial applications. Over the past ten years in the work of Ben-Akvia (1973),

McFadden (1974, 1976b, 1984), Lerman (1975), Manski (1977), Daganzo (1979), Horowitz (1980b, 1985), Heckman (1981a), Anas (1982), Wrigley (1982, 1985, 1986), Longley (1984a, 1984b), Timmermans (1984a, 1984c), Louviere (1988a, 1988b, 1988c), any many others, significant progress has been made in the field of choice theory and spatial choice models. In this paper we would like to review the fundamental principles of spatial choice modelling. The paper is organized as follows: in section 1 an effort is made to classify choice models according to different characteristics. Section 2 reviews the theory of the static discrete choice model and pays special attention to its various spatial applications and the comparison of the two most commonly used static spatial choice models. Section 3 presents an overview of dynamic approaches to spatial choice modelling. Finally, a number of conclusions are drawn.

1 Classification of choice models

A study of individual choice behaviour requires four primary ingredients (Ben-Akiva and Lerman, 1985, p. 32):

- (i) definition of de choice makers,
- (ii) description of the set of alternatives available to the choice makers known as choice set definition,
- (iii) description of the observed attributes of alternatives, and,
- (iv) selection of the decision rule.

First, the *choice maker* is an agent or actor whom performs a choice operation according to a fixed rule. The actor can be a single person, a group of individuals or even an organization.

The fact that each individual handles the choice problem in a different way and has a different perception of the reality, poses a number of problems. It makes that a choice problem is influenced by the choice maker's own subjective

filtering of the environment, his or her aspiration and information level, value system and so on (Timmermans and Golledge, 1990, p. 312). Therefore, though we are ultimately interested in predicting aggregate behaviour, we cannot leave aside those individual differences.

Second, by definition a choice is made from a set of alternatives. Most spatial choices are made from large sets of possible alternatives. For instance, the number of places in a medium-sized city where a firm might choose to set up business can easily run in the hundreds. This makes it hard to consider all possible alternatives for a given problem to obtain the so-called 'universal set of alternatives'. This set conceivably extends well beyond the actual range of consideration of the decision maker. Instead a portion of the universe of alternatives is considered. This individual choice set consists of all alternatives that are both feasible to the decision maker and known during the decision process. The possibility of adding an alternative to the choice set depends upon a variety of constraints such as time availability, monetary resources and the lack of information. However, a misspecification of the choice sets will lead to an incorrect setting of the parameters of the utility function and incorrectly predicted choice probabilities. Thill (1992, p. 377) argues that quite a number of choice studies set up their choice sets on a basis of prespecified and rather arbitrary criteria and he suggests various approaches to tackle the problem of choice set specification. The proposed methods¹ differ in term of behavioural realism, incorporation of uncertainty, data and computation requirements and the potential of transferring the choice results from one problem to another.

¹ These methods include (i) Burnett and Hanson's method of decomposition of the decision making process into a choice-set generation subproblem and a choice generation subproblem; (ii) the simulated space-time prism that emphasizes the contraining nature of the decision environment and derives the set of feasible alternatives by means of simulation; (iii) Manski's random choice-formation model whereby the choice-set generation process is described by a probabilistic model; (iv) the information processing and competing destinations model; and (v) Meyer's learning model that copes with information gathering and constant updating to generate the choice set.

Third, the attractiveness of an alternative is expressed by a large, but finite set of observed or assumed attribute values. Each attribute value gives to the choice maker a certain amount of utility or appreciation for the alternative. Some of the attributes are of a quantitative nature, others are truly qualitative. When all separate attribute values of utility are combined the total amount of utility for an alternative is obtained. Timmermans and Borgers (1985b, p. 4) point out that choice models may be distinguished according to the combination rule into (i) compensatory choice models, and (ii) non-compensatory choice models.

A compensatory choice model assumes that the total utility of an alternative is the result of a (partial) compensation of a low evaluation of one of its attributes by the relatively high evaluations of one or more of the remaining attributes. In a non-compensatory choice model the choice alternatives are evaluated on an attribute-by-attribute basis. The smoothening or small trade-offs of attributes values does not exist.

On the basis of the alternative's total amount of utility alternatives can be ordered and a preference function can be found. The preference function is called deterministic (structural or systematic) if the decision-maker always assigns the same amount of utility to the same alternative. In other words, the utility level of the alternative is completely determined by its known attributes. When this is not the case, e.g. when random factors also influence the utility level of the alternative, the preference function is called stochastic. The alternative is said to have a deterministic utility component and a random utility component.

Fourth and finally, when making a choice out of a set of alternatives a *decision* rule is needed. The decision rule translates the preference function to the actual choice behaviour. Following Domencich and McFadden (1975) the preference of the choice maker among the alternatives is represented by an objective function, termed a utility function. The utility function is assumed to capture the

choice maker's characteristics and the alternative's attributes. It is most common to assume that the choice maker is an utility maximizer. Therefore, if the preference function is deterministic the alternative that the choice maker perceives to have the greatest utility (or preference scale value) is chosen. In this case the decision rule is also deterministic. When, however, random components are present, the preference function is stochastic and the decision rule probabilistic. This means that the choice problem is not viewed to say which alternative is chosen but only to point out what the probability will be that the alternative is preferred over all others. The actual choice model will depend upon the *(joint) distributional assumption(s)* of the random utility component(s) of the preference function.

Most choice models are distinguished on the basis of their distribution assumptions made on the random term. Other distinctions can be based on the number of decision-makers (one individual or a group), the estimation level (individual or aggregate), the type of decision problem (single choice or multiple choice), the time dimension (static or dynamic), the information and knowledge level (certainty or uncertainty) and the choice situation or design (revealed or stated).

Perhaps it is useful to comment on the above mentioned distinctions used to characterize different choice models.

The *number of decision-makers* involved in the choice problem is rather straightforward. Most choice models are concerned with only one individual choice-maker. He or she chooses between the alternatives according to his or her own perception. It can however be possible that more than one person, e.g. a group of decision-makers, is involved with the choice making. In that case it is clear that as the number of participants in the decision making process increases the more complex the choice making will be. The actual decision will then not represent the choice of any specific individual, but is viewed as a compromise moulded by internal discussions and consultations whereby the

participants are often brought into line through a system of bargaining.

The estimation level refers to whether the actual choice is made on an individual level, that is to say estimated for each individual separately, or on an aggregate level. Usually the data collected for the choice problem will determine the estimation level (see also Hartman, 1982).

By the *type of decision problem* is meant whether the choice model predicts a single choice behaviour or a multiple choice behaviour. In a model of single choice behaviour the emphasis is put on the prediction of the probability that a single alternative will be chosen from an individual's choice set. In a model of multiple choice behaviour the aim is to predict the choice probability of a combination or sequence of choice alternatives.

When taking into account the *time dimension* choice models can be viewed as static or dynamic. While static models are only concerned with uncovering the mechanism underlying the choice behaviour, dynamic choice models explicitly account for the changes in the choice behaviour over time. In other words dynamic models pay special attention to the effects of past experience on choice behaviour (adaptive behaviour).

The *information and knowledge level* determines whether the decision making in a choice model takes place under conditions of certainty (riskless choice) or under conditions of uncertainty (choice making under risk). In a riskless choice situation the decision-maker has full knowledge and information on the outcome of the choice decision, whereas in a choice making under risk this is not the case. The probability distribution governing the choice is assumed known but the decision-maker is unable to assess its outcome.

Finally, choice models can differ when the *choice* (preference) situation is altered. Two important variations exist: revealed choice models and stated choice models. Revealed choice models are models based on choices and

decisions that have actually been made in the real world. Therefore, emphasis is placed on the observed choice behaviour and typically information on the reported characteristics of the alternatives in the choice set is used. In stated choice models the characteristics of the alternatives in the choice set are predefined so that a number of hypothetical or experimental choice situations (designs) are created. The respondent is then asked to make a ranking or rating or selection of a certain choice situation. Stated choice models always require a purpose-designed survey.

Following Timmermans and Borgers (1985b) and Timmermans and Golledge (1990) we will now focus on the major choice models that are used in spatial choice analysis. First, we will take a closer look at the static choice models. These include (i) the conventional discrete choice models, (ii) the compositional multiattribute attitude models, (iii) the decompositional multiattribute preference/choice models, and (iv) the hybrid evaluation models. Second, the dynamic choice models are reviewed.

2 Static choice models

2.1 Conventional discrete choice models

Beginning with McFadden's contribution (1976b) on choice analysis econometricians became interested in the problem of discrete choice. Discrete choices may be defined as decisions taken by individuals among a finite set of discrete alternatives. Conventional discrete choice models take for granted that the choice of the decision maker can actually be observed in reality. Choices are therefore considered as 'revealed' choices. The models of discrete choice (also called quantal or qualitative or revealed choice models) deal, not with questions of "how much", but with questions of "which", "when" or "where" (Anas and Moses, 1984, p. 547).

The most well-know applications of discrete choice models are in area of the

spatial analysis. Excellent reviews by McFadden (1976b, 1984), Ortuzar (1982), Wrigley (1982), Anas and Moses (1984), Longley (1984b), Timmermans and Borgers (1985b), Fischer and Nijkamp (1985, 1987), Golledge and Stimson (1987), Timmermans and Golledge (1990), Anderson *et al.* (1992b), and others, mention the application of discrete choice techniques to problems of (i) travel demand analysis² whereby a traveller decides how to commute to work (e.g. by car, bus or train) or how to go shopping, (ii) choice of housing or residential location³ whereby households choose the location or community in which to rent or buy housing or the type of housing to occupy, (iii) college-choice⁴ whereby scholars choose the school or university to go to, (iv) shopping behaviour and retailing⁵ whereby shoppers have to make a selection among

² see e.g. Warner (1962), Lave (1970), Talvitie (1972), McFadden (1973, 1978, 1981), Ben-Akiva (1973), Watson and Westin (1973), Wigner (1973), McFadden and Reid (1974), Watson (1974a, 1974b), Domencich and McFadden (1975), Richards and Ben-Akiva (1975), Ben-Akiva and Richards (1976), Ben-Akiva and Atherton (1977), Parody (1977), Hausman and Wise (1978), Adler and Ben-Akiva (1979), Ben-Akiva and Lerman (1979, 1985), Cambridge Systematics Inc. (1979, 1984), Horowitz (1979, 1980a, 1980b, 1985), Oum (1979), Train (1980, 1986), Sasaki (1982), Hensher (1983), Manski (1983), McDonald (1983), Ortuzar (1983), Brouwer and Nijkamp (1984), Halperin and Gale (1984), Thobani (1984), Koppelman and Pas (1985), Fischer (1986), Blauwens and Van de Voorde (1988), Ettema (1993) and Hunt and Teply (1993).

³ see e.g. Quigley (1973, 1976, 1985), Friedman (1974), Pollakowski (1975), Lerman (1975, 1977), Li (1977), Hensher (1978), McFadden (1978), Lerman (1979), Anas (1981, 1982), Ellickson (1981), Van Lierop (1981, 1985, 1986), O'Brien (1982), Hensher and Taylor (1983), Onaka (1983), Onaka and Clark (1983), van der Knaap and Ament (1983), Anas and Chu (1984), Falchi and Mariano (1984), Gabriel and Rosenthal (1984), Longley (1984), Van Lierop and Nijkamp (1984), Van Lierop and Rima (1984, 1985), Veldhuisen (1984, 1985), Clark and Onaka (1985), Aufhauser, Fischer and Schönhofer (1986), Clark and Van Lierop (1986), Fischer and Aufhauser (1986, 1988), Anderstig (1987), Börsch-Supan (1987), Rouwendal (1988), Thill and Van de Vyvere (1989) and Molin, Oppewal and Timmermans (1994).

⁴ see e.g. Miller and Radner (1970, 1974), Manski (1981), Kohn, Manski and Mundel (1976), Ritzen and Winkler (1977) and Linneman and Graves (1983).

⁵ see e.g. Burnett (1973), Adler and Ben-Akiva (1976), Koppelman and Hauser (1978), McCarthy (1980), Gautschi (1981), Miller and Lerman (1981),

different stores they want to visit, (v) recreational behaviour⁶ whereby people choose between different recreational trips, (vi) labour force participation⁷ whereby workers choose among different job offers, (vii) choice of energy⁸ whereby a selection of heating systems needs to be made, (viii) choice for differentiated consumer products⁹, and (ix) choice of industrial location¹⁰. It is only within the last decade that discrete choice techniques are being applied to the problem of industrial and retail store (re)location. In this case a firm decides in which of a number of possible locations (regions, suburban municipalities or shopping centres) it should establish business.

Let us now focus on how the conventional discrete choice models may be derived. Suppose we summarize a choice model mathematically as follows (see also Borgers, 1992):

Southworth (1981), Landau, Prashker and Alpern (1982), Lerman and Liu (1984), Timmermans (1984c), Roy (1985) and Timmermans, Borgers and van der Waerden (1991, 1992).

⁶ see e.g. Leven and Mark (1977), Peterson *et al.* (1983), Lin *et al.* (1988), Borgers, van der Heijden and Timmermans (1989) and Dellaert and Timmermans (1992).

⁷ see e.g. Boskin (1974), Schmidt and Strauss (1975), Evers and Van der Veen (1983), Fischer and Maier (1984, 1986), Maier and Fischer (1985), Evers (1989) and Hughes and McCormick (1989).

⁸ see e.g. Hartman (1982), Quigley (1984), Dubin (1986) and Kasanen and Lakshmanan (1989).

⁹ see e.g. Anderson, de Palma and Thisse (1989, 1992a, 1992b) and Anderson and de Palma (1992a, 1992b).

¹⁰ see e.g. Miller and Lerman (1979), Oster (1979), Erickson and Wasylenko (1980, 1981), Carlton (1983), Leonardi (1983), Leonardi and Tadei (1984), Blackley (1985), Lee and Cohen (1985), Lugar and Shetty (1985), Hayashi, Isobe and Tomita (1986), Hansen (1987), Lee, Choe and Pahk (1987), Boots and Kanaroglou (1988), de Palma (1988), White (1988), Das (1989), Henley *et al.* (1989), Lee (1990), McConnell and Schwab (1990), Coughlin, Terza and Arromdee (1991), Kriesel and McNamara (1991), Shukla and Waddell (1991), Anderson, de Palma and Hong (1992), Friedman, Gerlowski and Silberman (1992), Woodward (1992) and Sugiura (1993).

An individual choice maker i (= 1,..., I) determines from a universal set of alternatives C, in accordance with a number of constraints, his or her choice set $C_i \subseteq C$. This choice set consists of a number of mutually exclusive alternatives j (= 1, ..., J) and is denoted:

$$C_i = \{alternative 1, alternative 2, ..., alternative J\}$$
 [1]

The alternatives are characterized by the attributes k (= 1, ..., K). For the choice maker i the attribute k of alternative j represents a utility value denoted X_{ijk} . According to a combination rule the attributes values are put together to form the total amount of utility of the alternative denoted V_{ij} . The choice problem is to estimate the alternative's choice probability.

We know that choice makers choose the alternative that give them the highest utility. This means that if we correctly evaluate the different attributes of all given alternatives we can always indicate without any doubt which alternative the decision maker will select. If this were true, human choice behaviour would be very easy to model.

But can we suppose that the evaluation of the observed attribute values will remain constant over time and space, and what to do with unobserved attributes or known but not measurable attributes and with the effects of unobserved variations in the choice behaviour when all other factors stay identical? It appears that the only valid solution, as noted by psychologists in the nineteen twenties, is to introduce a probabilistic mechanism to explain behaviourial choice inconsistencies. A probabilistic choice model could take into account pure random behaviour as well as errors due to incorrect perception of the attributes.

The probabilistic theories of preference differ with respect to the nature of the mechanism that is assumed to govern the choice. In the literature three approaches are distinguished: (i) the constant utility, (ii) the strict utility, and (iii)

the random utility approach.

First, the constant utility approach (Luce, 1959; Luce and Suppes, 1965) treats the utilities of the alternatives as fixed. Instead of selecting the alternative with the highest utility a random element to the decision rule is introduced. The choice makers behave according to a probability distribution function P over the alternatives that includes the utilities as parameters.

Mathematically, the probability that a choice maker i will select an alternative j can be written as $P_i(j)$ or $P(j|C_i)$ with following properties:

$$0 \le P(j|C_i) \le 1 \tag{2}$$

and

$$\sum_{j \in C_i} P(j \mid C_i) = 1$$

Second, the strict utility model (Luce, 1959; Debreu, 1960) can be considered as an extension of the constant utility approach. It states that the probability of choosing an alternative *j* is equal to the ratio of the utility of that alternative *j* to the sum of the utilities of all alternatives in the choice set of the decision maker *i*, or:

$$P(j \mid C_i) = \frac{U_{ij}}{\sum_{m \in C_i} U_{im}}$$
 [4]

The strict utility model is based on the so-called 'choice axiom' (see Luce, 1959 and 1977; Halldin, 1974). This states that if we remove a number of

alternatives from a choice set, the relative choice probabilities from the reduced choice set will stay unchanged. In other words the choice probabilities will dependent only on the alternatives present in the choice set and are therefore independent of any other alternatives that may exist. This property is known as *independence from irrelevant alternatives* (IIA)¹¹. A good review on the procedures to determine violations of the IIA property and proposals to remedy violations is given by Hensher and Johnson (1981, pp. 135-161). We will return to the IIA-property when dealing with the multinomial logit model.

It is also assumed that the utilities of the alternatives can be scaled and ordered as showed by Tversky's simple scalability property (1972a, 1972b). The ordering of the alternatives is independent of the choice set. This implies that if an alternative j is preferred to an alternative m in one context then j should always be chosen over m in any context. But it should also be true that if a choice maker is indifferent between j or m (of the same order) their choice probabilities must be equal. This assumption, however, is not valid in general as demonstrated e.g. in an experiment by Becker, DeGroot and Marschak (1963). They feel that random factors have a strong influence on choice behaviour. This leads us to the third approach.

The random utility approach (Thurstone, 1927; Manski, 1977; Yellott, 1977; Strauss, 1979) assumes that the utilities of the alternatives are not known with certainty. Therefore they are to be treated as random variables. This implies that the individual utility function can be divided into two (additive) parts: a deterministic component and a random utility component. This leads to:

$$U_{ij} = V_{ij} + \epsilon_{ij}$$
 [5]

Due to the randomness of the utilities the choice probability of an alternative j is

¹¹ The term "independence from irrelevant alternatives" is somewhat confusing in this present context. Block and Marschak (1960) suggest instead "irrelevance of added alternatives".

equal to the probability that the utility associated with that alternative j is greater than the utilities of all other alternatives in the choice set. Mathematically this can be written as follows:

$$P(j|C_i) = Pr\left\{U_{ij} > U_{im}; \forall m \neq j; j, m \in C_i\right\}$$
 [6]

Equation [6] results in that the choice problem is not viewed to say which alternative is chosen but only to point out what the probability will be that the alternative is preferred over all others. Therefore, the actual choice model will dependent upon the distributional assumption of the random utility component.

There are a number of possible interpretations of the random term. Anas (1982, p. 57) for instance mentions six different explanations:

- (i) deterministic variations of preference,
- (ii) stochastic instability of preference,
- (iii) differences between perceived and realized utility values,
- (iv) unobserved attributes of the choice alternatives,
- (v) unobserved constraints on behaviour, and,
- (vi) irrational behaviour.

The first two interpretations are not self-evident. By (i) is meant that individuals have a completely deterministic (homogeneous) preference structure. The random utility term is then introduced to capture the interindividual variations in utility which are assumed to be constant over time. Explanation (ii) refers to differences in the utility function due to time. In other words given the same choice conditions the actual choice can differ from period to period. The random term could account for the intraindividual variations (Fischer and Nijkamp, 1985, pp. 533-534).

The random utility approach will form the basis for the further development of the conventional discrete choice model. Let us now concentrate on making the random utility theory operational.

We start by rewriting equation [6] using equation [5]:

$$P(j|C_i) = Pr\left\{V_{ii} + \epsilon_{ii} > V_{im} + \epsilon_{im}; \forall m \neq j; j, m \in C_i\right\}$$
 [7]

Rearranged this results in:

$$P(j|C_i) = Pr\{V_{ij} - V_{im} > \epsilon_{im} - \epsilon_{ij}; \forall m \neq j; j, m \in C_i\}$$
[8]

Suppose that the categorized or qualitative, nominal response variable is dichotomous, the choice set is then reduced to only two alternatives ($C_i = \{j, m\}$). This makes that $P(j|C_i) = 1 - P(m|C_i)$, and it also limits the number of disturbances to just two. Equation [8] states that to know or estimate $P(j|C_i)$, we need to know whether the total or cumulative probability of the difference in two V's (let $V_i = V_{ij} - V_{im}$) is greater than the difference in two ϵ 's (let $\eta_i = \epsilon_{im} - \epsilon_{ij}$). If η_i is a continuous random variable equation [8] can be written as:

$$Pr \{V_i > \eta_i\} = F(V_i) = \int_{\eta_i = -\infty}^{V_i} f(\eta_i) d\eta_i$$
 [9]

whereby F(.) is the cumulative distribution function and f(.) the probability density function of the random variable. All random utility based discrete choice models differ according to the assumptions made on the cumulative probability distributions of the random term. So different distributions result in different random utility choice models having different properties (see table 1).

The binary (binomial) choice models are conceptually easy to derive and numerous applications can be found in the literature. However, it is fair to say that the choice set will usually consists of more than just two alternatives. In other words the response variable is polytomous. An important consequence is

that it is not sufficient simply to specify a univariate distribution of the differences in the disturbances, like in the binary case (equation [9]), but we will have to characterize the complete joint distribution of all the disturbances.

Table 1: Classification of binary choice models according to the distributional assumption of the random term ¹²

distribution of the random utility component	associated discrete choice model	leading monographs
uniform distribution	linear probability model (LPM) truncated LPM (tobit model)	Ross (1977), McCullagh and Nelson (1983), Aldrich and Nelson (1985) Tobin (1958), Amemiya (1973)
Cauchy distribution	arctan probability model	Aldrich and Nelson (1985)
normal distribution	binary probit model	Cox (1970), Finney (1971)
logistic distribution	binary logit model	Berkson (1944), Gumbel (1961)

Let $f(\eta_{i1},...,\eta_{ij},...,\eta_{iJ})$ denote the joint density function of the disturbance terms. The probability that $V_{i1} > \eta_{i1},...,V_{ij} > \eta_{ij},...,V_{iJ} > \eta_{iJ}$ will simultaneously (jointly) occur, is equal to:

$$F(V_{ij},...,V_{ij},...,V_{i,J}) = \int_{\eta_{ij}=-\infty}^{V_{ij}}...\int_{\eta_{ij}=-\infty}^{V_{ij}}f(\eta_{i1},...,\eta_{ij},...,\eta_{i,J})d\eta_{i1}...d\eta_{ij}...d\eta_{i,J}$$
 [10]

¹² There are some excellent reviews on the matter of binary choice models and analysis of binary data: see e.g. Domencich and McFadden, 1975, pp. 53-65; Amemiya, 1981, pp. 1483-1536; Cosslett, 1981, pp. 51-111; McFadden, 1984, pp. 1396-1403; Ben-Akiva and Lerman, 1985, pp. 59-99; Börsch-Supan, 1987, pp. 21-40; Collett, 1991; Cramer, 1991, pp. 5-42.

The calculation of this complex multiple integral forms an important drawback to the multinomial discrete choice models.

As in the binary case, the actual multinomial choice model depends on the distribution chosen for the random components. Two important cases are considered here: (i) the multinomial probit model, and (ii) the multinomial logit model.

2.1.1 The multinomial probit model

The multinomial probit (MNP) model specifies the distribution function of the random utility components as multivariate normal. Because the normal distribution seems the natural first choice probit models appeared already in early mathematical psychological writings (see e.g. Thurstone, 1927; Gaddum, 1933; Bliss, 1934). However, its computational difficulty made it unusable until Finney (1947, reprinted in 1971) published his monograph on the binary probit analysis. Later important contributions are those from Aitchison and Bennett (1970), Dutt (1976), Manski and Lerman (1977), Daganzo, Bouthelier and Sheffi (1977), Hausman and Wise (1978), Daganzo (1979), Daganzo and Sheffi (1982) and Amemiya (1985).

Daganzo (1979, p. 17) defines the MNP model as a random utility model in which the error terms have a joint multivariate normal distribution with zero mean and an arbitrary variance-covariance matrix (Σ_{ϵ}). This specification is attractive because it can capture all possible correlation patterns among the disturbances. However, the computational difficulties that arise from this theoretical property makes the MNP model less useful. When the multivariate normal distribution is introduced in equation [10] the determination of the choice probabilities requires a complex numerical calculation of a multiple

integral¹³.

The complexivity of the problem can be reduced by imposing some assumptions or restrictions on the model. Rouwendal (1988, p. 23) argues that to a large extent the complexity of the MNP model depends upon the way in which the covariance matrix is filled. If we assume that the error terms ϵ_i are independent and identically normally distributed the matrix Σ_{ϵ} is diagonal with all diagonal elements being identical. This case is however often judged to be unrealistic.

Amemiya (1985, p. 308) and Börsch-Supan (1987, p. 24) propose to limit the number of alternatives in the choice set in order to reduce the complexivity of the problem. This was first put to the test by Hausman and Wise (1978, pp. 403-426) in their analysis on modal choice. They have made a thorough investigation of the trichotomous probit model (three-alternative case) and noted that when the number of choice alternatives is small ($J \le 3$) direct numerical integration is still practical, but impractical for choice sets with five and more alternatives. This important drawback of the probit model led to the development of alternative choice probability calculation methods. We mention, without pursuing the subject any further, the Monte Carlo simulation method (Lerman and Manski, 1981), the numerical approximation method (Clark, 1961; Bouthelier, 1978) which claims it can handle as many as ten alternatives at a time, and the method of simulated moments (McFadden, 1989).

The fact that the use of normally distributed error terms poses a number of practical problems leaves room for alternative specifications such as the multinomial logit model.

¹³ The choice probability can be written as follows:

 $P(j|C_i) = \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} (\prod_{m \neq j} \int_{-\infty}^{-\infty} N(\varepsilon_i|0,\Sigma) \ d\varepsilon_{im}) \ d\varepsilon_{ij} \text{ where } N(.) \text{ denotes a multivariate}$ normal density function with zero mean and variance-covariance matrix Σ_{ε} .

2.1.2 The multinomial logit model

The multinomial logit (MNL) model is the result if we assume that the random elements in utility are (i) independently, (ii) identically and (iii) Type I extreme value distributed. The latter distribution is also called double exponential, log-Weibull, Gumbel or Gnedenko distribution.

Independently and identically distributed (IID) error terms imply that the variances of the random components of the utilities are equal (homoscedasticity) and that all covariances are zero. If IID can be defended then a suitable distribution is the Type I extreme value distribution which in terms of the $\epsilon_{\rm im}$ is defined as follows (Johnson and Kotz, 1970, p. 272):

$$Pr\left(\epsilon_{im} \leq \epsilon_{i}\right) = \exp\left\{-\exp\left(-\left(\epsilon_{i} - \mu\right)/\lambda\right)\right\}$$
 [11]

with μ = location parameter λ = scale parameter (λ > 0) mean = μ + 0.57722 λ variance = 1.64493 λ ²

The distribution in its standard form ($\mu = 0$ and $\lambda = 1$) results in that the disturbances have a common mean of 0.57 (Euler's constant) and standard deviation of 1.28. Equation [11] is then reduced to:

$$Pr(\epsilon_{im} \leq \epsilon_i) = \exp(-\exp(-\epsilon_i)) = e^{-e^{-\epsilon_i}}$$
 [12]

with following probability density function:

$$f(\epsilon_i) = \exp\left\{-\exp\left(-\epsilon_i\right) - \epsilon_i\right\}$$
 [13]

The name 'extreme value' refers to the property that it is the limiting distribution of the maximum of n IID variables as n approaches infinity. Because

the choices are made according to maximum utility the extreme value distribution seems a proper distribution. In its standard form it is not very different from a normal distribution with the same mean and variance.

Let us recapitulate for a moment. If we take equation [8] and rearrange this, we get the following result:

$$P(j|C_i) = Pr\left\{\epsilon_{im} - \epsilon_{ii} < V_{ii} - V_{im}; \forall m \neq j; j, m \in C_i\right\}$$
 [14]

This is equal to:

$$P(j|C_i) = Pr\left\{\epsilon_{im} < \epsilon_{ii} + V_{ii} - V_{im}; \forall m \neq j; j, m \in C_i\right\}$$
 [15]

Since we assume that each ϵ_{im} is IID, the probability of choosing an alternative j, $P(j|C_i)$, can be written as the product of M-1 terms (product rule):

$$P(j \mid C_i) = \prod_{m=1, m \neq i}^{M} Pr \left\{ \epsilon_{im} < \epsilon_{ij} + V_{ij} - V_{im}; \forall m \neq j; j, m \in C_i \right\}$$
 [16]

Using equation [12] and [16] the probability that an alternative j is chosen, is given by:

$$P(j \mid C_i) = \prod_{m=1, m \neq j}^{M} \exp \left\{-\exp - (\epsilon_{ij} + V_{ij} - V_{im})\right\}$$
 [17]

It can be shown that equation [17], after some elaborate calculations (using equation [10]), reduces to a logit model. The mathematical derivation can be found in e.g. Hensher and Johnson (1981, pp. 39-42), Maddala (1983, pp. 60-61), Ben-Akiva and Lerman (1985, pp. 104-106) and Cramer (1991, pp. 50-51). The result is:

$$P(j|C_i) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp(V_{im} - V_{ij})}$$
 in the binary case, and [18]

$$P(f|C_i) = \frac{\exp(V_{ij})}{\sum_{m \in C_i} \exp(V_{im})} \text{ in the multinomial case.}$$
 [19]

The first to advocate the (binary) logit model was Berkson (1944, 1951). He defined the "logit" as a 'logistic probability unit'. By this is meant the natural logarithm of the odds, or log odds. The odds indicate the relative probability of choosing for one or another alternative on some variable of interest. Applied to the choice of location, the logit model expresses the conditional log odds of location X as a linear function of a set of explanatory variables. The model is similar to the linear regression model except that the response is the log odds rather than a metric dependent variable.

Theil (1969) generalized the binary logit model to a multinomial case. This opened up the field for other researchers to exploit further possibilities. Through the work of Daniel McFadden (1968, 1974, 1976a, 1976b, 1978, 1981, 1984, 1987) the MNL model became extensively applied to empirical studies of choice problems. At first this mainly confined to the problem of modal split but to date, the MNL model is, without any doubt most widely used in all branches of regional analysis. Further theoretical important contributions on the MNL model are those from Parks (1980), Cavanagh (1982), Hausman and McFadden (1984) and Small (1987).

Let us now focus on some of the properties of the multinomial logit model. To bring out these properties we return to equation [19]. This states that the probability that an alternative j is chosen, is equal to the ratio of the associated deterministic utility of that alternative (V_{ij}) to the sum of the deterministic utilities of all other alternatives (V_{im}) . This MNL model has the following

properties (see also Anderson et al., 1992, pp. 42-45; Borgers, 1992, pp. 7-8):

- (i) the probability to select alternative *j* will increase if its deterministic utility increases or if the deterministic utilities of all other alternatives decreases, and vice versa.
- (ii) the choice probability will not dependent upon the absolute value of the deterministic utilities. Adding to or subtracting from all deterministic utilities a random number (x) does not affect the choice probability. This can be shown as follows:

$$P(i|C_i) = \frac{\exp(V_{ij} + x)}{\sum_{m \in C_i} \exp(V_{im} + x)}$$
 [20]

which can be written as:

$$P(j|C_i) = \frac{\exp(V_{ij}) \exp(x)}{\sum_{m \in C_i} \exp(V_{im}) \exp(x)}$$
[21]

The fraction can be simplified by elimination of the term exp (x) in both the numerator and denominator. The result is the familiar logit model.

(iii) the ratio of the choice probabilities of any two alternatives is entirely unaffected by the deterministic utilities of any other alternatives. The odds ratio of choosing alternative *j* over alternative *l* is defined as:

$$\frac{P(j|C_{i})}{P(l|C_{i})} = \frac{\frac{\exp(V_{ij})}{\sum_{m \in C_{i}} \exp(V_{im})}}{\frac{\exp(V_{ij})}{\sum_{m \in C_{i}} \exp(V_{im})}} = \frac{\exp(V_{ij})}{\exp(V_{ij})} = \exp(V_{ij} - V_{ij})$$
[22]

By taking the logarithm of equation [22] we find the *log odds ratio* of the two alternatives:

$$\log(\frac{P(f|C_i)}{P(f|C_i)}) = V_{ij} - V_{ij}$$
 [23]

This states the remarkable fact that if any two alternatives are compared with another this is exclusively done on the difference in the characteristics of the two alternatives concerned $(V_{ij} - V_{il})$, independent of the attributes of all other alternatives and independent of the number of alternatives in the choice set. The log odds ratio is therefore unaffected by the addition or deletion of alternatives in the choice set. This property is known as *independence of irrelevant alternatives* (IIA) and it is responsible for making the MNL model 'context independent'. This means the model ignores the effect of similarities among alternatives on the probability of choice.

The IIA-property is attributed to McFadden (1974, p. 109) and is obviously in accordance with Luce's (1959) choice axiom. Domencich and McFadden (1975, p. 69) view the IIA-property as both the principal strength and the principal weakness of the MNL model. It is a strength because once the utility function parameters have been established new alternatives can be introduced to or existing alternatives removed from the choice set without the re-estimation of the model. One simply adds or drops the alternative to or from the denominator of equation [19] for each alternative. This procedure is possible because the

odds ratio is unaffected by it. Merely on computational grounds the logit model is preferred to the probit model. It is a weakness because IIA can lead to unacceptable results since it also implies to highly relevant alternatives. Furthermore, alternatives are also required to be perceived as completely distinct and independent. The definition of 'distinct' is complex. It revolves around the problem to what extent alternatives can be considered as similar or dissimilar. The two classical examples to illustrate this problem are Debreu's (1960, pp. 186-188) case of the recordings of the same concerto with a live performance and McFadden's (1974, p. 113) case of the red and blue buses.

The following application translates the effects of the IIA-property to the choice of business location. Consider the choice between a location in the city centre or a location in the suburban region. For simplicity, we assume that the relative odds of two location sites are equal. Now we introduce a third location which is a very close substitute for the existing central location (e.g. in the same street but directly opposite to it). The task is to forecast the choice probability of this 'new' alternative. Intuitively, we would expect that the new distribution would be something like 50 % for the suburban location versus 50 % for both central locations. But according to condition [23], the log odds ratio of the suburban location versus the central location has to stay constant regardless of the number or the attributes of any other alternative. The 'new' alternative is therefore to gain its share of the market by a proportional reduction of the probabilities of all possible location sites, forcing a distribution of 33 % for all three alternatives. This is clearly implausible there it stands to reason that the existing central location will be much more affected by the introduction of the 'new' alternative than the suburban location. The paradox appears even more striking when it is understood that the probability of choosing the suburban location can be made arbitrarily small by considering a sufficiently large set of central locations with minor differences.

(iv) the cross elasticities of the choice probability of alternative j with respect to the attributes of any other alternative $m \ (\neq j)$ is constant, that is independent of

We define the elasticity of the choice probability of alternative *j* for an individual *i* with respect to a change in the *k*th attribute as follows:

$$\mathbf{E}_{X_{ijk}}^{P(j|C_i)} = \frac{dP(j|C_i)}{dX_{ijk}} \cdot \frac{X_{ijk}}{P(j|C_i)}$$
 [24]

If we assume that the deterministic utility for a choice maker i is a linear additive function of the various observable attributes k of alternative j, that is $V_{ijk} = \mathcal{B}_k X_{ijk}$ and we substitute this in the MNL model defined under equation [19] the elasticity is found using the quotient rule for derivatives. After some calculations the result is:

$$\mathbf{E}_{X_{ijk}}^{P(j|C_i)} = \beta_{jk} X_{ijk} \{ (1 - P(j|C_i)) \}$$
 [25]

Similarly we define the cross elasticity of the choice probability of alternative j with respect to an attribute of alternative m as:

$$E_{X_{imk}}^{P(j|C_i)} = \frac{dP(j|C_i)}{dX_{imk}} \cdot \frac{X_{imk}}{P(j|C_i)}$$
 [26]

which results into:

$$\mathbf{E}_{X_{insk}}^{P(i|C_i)} = -\beta_{mk} X_{imk} P(m|C_i)$$
 [27]

Notice that in equation [27] the cross elasticity only depends on variables that are associated with alternative *m*. Hensher and Johnson (1981, p. 58) therefore conclude that cross elasticities with respect to a variable associated with an

alternative m are the same for other alternatives. This property follows the IIA-property.

In conclusion, the MNL model offers a computational advantage that is unmatched by any other discrete choice model. This could well be one of the reasons for its extensive use to handle all kinds of decompositional choice problems. However, a major drawback of the MNL model are the restrictions it imposes on the choice behaviour. Implying that the choice probability of two seemingly similar alternatives is independent from one another is unacceptable (cfr. the IIA-property). In order to alleviate this weakness to a certain extent but making use of the computational convenience of the MNL model a number of different extensions can be found.

2.1.3 Non-IIA choice models

An important extension of the simple MNL model is an approach which is able to account for the *substitution effects* that arise from the correlation in the error terms of similar alternatives.

Following Borgers and Timmermans (1987, pp. 31-34) three classes of substitution models may be distinguished: (i) models which impose more general conditions on the variance-covariance matrix of the error terms¹⁴, (ii) models which account for substitution effects by extending the simple MNL model formula¹⁵, and (iii) models with a hierarchical or sequential decision

¹⁴ Examples are Nakanishi and Cooper's (1974) and Bultez and Naert's (1975) multiplicative competitive interaction (MCI) model; Williams' (1977, 1981) and Williams and Ortuzar's (1982) cross-correlated logit model; Daganzo, Bouthelier and Sheffi's (1977) and Daganzo's (1979) generalized probit model; Hausman and Wise's (1978) perceptual interdependence model; McFadden's (1978) generalized extreme value model; Daganzo's (1979) negative exponential distribution model; Kamakura and Srivastava's (1984) probit model.

¹⁵ Examples are Gaudry and Dagenais' (1979) dogit model; Batsell's (1980, 1981, 1982) discrepancy model; Meyer and Eagle's (1981, 1982) weight-shifting model; Huber's (1982) cumulative logit model; Huber and Sewall's

structure¹⁶.

Substitution effects and substitution models have widely been discussed in a number of reviews¹⁷. A thorough discussion of all different substitution models would lead us to far. Therefore, we would like to limit our discussion to just three, albeit, fundamental substitution models and refer the more interested reader to the specific references.

The models under consideration here are (i) the generalized extreme value model, (iii) the nested logit model, and (iii) the elimination-by-aspects model.

The generalized extreme value (GEV) model, proposed by McFadden (1978, 1981), permits a more flexible pattern of crossalternative substitution (like the probit model) and can computationally handle more than three alternatives at a time (like the logit model). The model is a generalization of a multinomial logit model which maintains the extreme value distribution but which allows for the dependence likely to exist between alternatives in a choice set¹⁸.

⁽¹⁹⁸²⁾ model; Cooper and Nakanishi's (1983); Borgers and Timmermans' (1984) model; Batsell and Polking's (1985) extended logit model; Small's (1987) ordered logit model.

¹⁶ Examples are Tversky's (1972a, 1972b) elimination-by-aspects (EBA) model and elimination-by-strategy (EBS) model; McFadden (1978) and Sobel's (1981) nested logit model; Gensch and Svestka's (1979) model; Recker and Golob's (1979) model; Tversky and Sattath's (1979) hierarchical-elimination-by-aspects (HEBA) model; Strauss' (1981) choice-by-feature (CBF) model; Hauser and Tversky's (1981) hierarchical balance model; Manrai and Sinha's (1989) elimination-by-cutoffs (EBC) model.

¹⁷ see e.g. Currin (1982), Ortuzar (1982), Van Lierop and Nijkamp (1982), Wrigley (1982, 1985), Corstjens and Gautschi (1983), Wrigley and Longley (1984), Amemiya (1985), Fischer and Nijkamp (1985), Timmermans and Borgers (1985a, 1985b), Borgers and Timmermans (1987, 1991), Haynes, Good and Dignan (1988), Jain and Bass (1989), Manrai and Sinha (1989), Timmermans and Golledge (1990).

¹⁸ The GEV cumulative distribution function is equal to $F(.) = \exp \{-G \text{ [exp } (-\epsilon_1),..., \exp (-\epsilon_J)]\}$ where G is a non-negative, homogeneous of degree $\mu > 0$

The basic idea is to relax the IID assumption by making use of an hierarchical tree structure to describe the choice process whereby the choice set is divided into a number of smaller subsets. This can be done by grouping or clustering into subsets of choices those alternatives that are more alike to each other (with a high correlation in the error terms) relative to the other alternatives. These in the choice subset so-called 'nested' alternatives have nonindependent error terms, thus the IIA-property does no longer hold and the model is said to be context-sensitive. Subsets may themselves be more or less similar to each other. This makes it possible that more than two levels of nesting can exist, thus hierarchically introducing similar and dissimilar alternatives on each level (Börsch-Supan, 1987, p. 43). This type of GEV model is the most practical special case of all GEV models and is called the nested (structured or hierarchical) MNL model¹⁹.

The nested multinomial logit (NMNL) model takes for granted a recursive sequential decision structure. It is sequential because a choice of an alternative at a given level of the choice hierarchy is conditional upon the outcomes of higher level choices and it is recursive because the decision also depends upon the utilities of choice options available at lower level choices (Fischer and Nijkamp, 1987, p. 10). At each level a dependence or similarity parameter θ , expresses the degree of correlation in the error terms of the alternatives. Each level transition is characterized by a variable called an 'inclusive value'. This variable summarizes the attribute values of the alternatives of lower level choices.

function with certain properties (see Ben-Akiva and Lerman, 1985, p. 305) and with corresponding choice probabilities: $P(j|C_i) = \frac{e^{V_{ij}}G_j(e^{V_{ij}},...,e^{V_{ij}})}{\mu G(e^{V_{ij}},...,e^{V_{ij}})}$ whereby $G_j = \frac{\partial G(.)}{\partial G(.)}$ is the derivative of G(.) with respect to its fth argument.

¹⁹ Another special case of GEV models is treated by Small (1987, pp. 409-424) who assumes a correlation across alternatives that are "close" when the alternatives in the choice set can be ordered a priori. This model variation is termed the "ordered logit model".

The derivation of the NMNL model from the GEV model is shown in McFadden (1978, pp. 75-96; 1984, pp. 1420-1433) and Ben-Akiva and Lerman (1985, pp. 304-310). The use of the model can best be illustrated by an example.

Suppose that we are interested in modelling an industrial location problem whereby a choice-maker i (= 1, ..., I) first chooses a region j (= 1, ..., J), to establish business and then an industrial location site k (= 1, ..., K_i), within that region. Given this choice strategy, the selection of k is subject to the selection of j, or in other words k is nested in j. The nested logit choice probability of an industrial location site k in region j, denoted as $P_i(jk)$ or $P(jk|C_i)$, is the product of the marginal probability of choosing j, denoted as $P_i(j)$ or $P(j|C_i)$, and the conditional probability of k, given that j is chosen, denoted as $P_i(k|j)$ or P(k|j)

$$P_i(jk) = P_i(j) P_i(k|j)$$
 [28]

The NMNL choice probabilities are:

$$P_{i}(jk) = \frac{\exp(V_{ij} + V_{ik} - \theta I_{ij})}{\sum_{m} \exp[V_{im} + (1 - \theta)I_{im}]}$$
 [29a]

$$P_{i}(j) = \frac{\exp[V_{ij} + (1 - \theta)I_{ij})}{\sum_{m} \exp[V_{im} + (1 - \theta)I_{ij}]}$$
 [29b]

$$P_i(k|j) = \frac{\exp(V_{ik})}{\exp(I_{ij})}$$
 [29c]

with $I_{ij} = \ln \sum_{k=1}^{K_j} \exp(\frac{V_{ik}}{(1-\theta)})$, and θ is a parameter to be estimated.

The similarity parameter θ also serves as a test for the proposed hierarchical decision structure. This is because θ has to fall within the unit interval $0 \le \theta < 1$ in order that the NMNL model remains consistent with random utility maximalization. If $\theta = 0$, the NMNL model reduces to a MNL model in which region and industrial location site are chosen simultaneously and the IIA assumption holds. As $\theta \to 1$, the industrial location sites within each region are perceived to be identical (perfectly correlated) in their unobserved attributes. In that instance IIA cannot hold and the choice process must be modelled as a two-stage or hierarchical process whereby the decision-maker first chooses the region and then, conditional on the choice of region, chooses the industrial location site.

A major strength of NMNL models is their capacity to organize the decision problem hierarchically, thus simplifying the overall choice problem. However, this 'strength' is based on very strong separability assumptions that need to be imposed on the alternatives. When the hierarchical choice structure is confined to only one, the properties of the simple MNL still hold. Therefore, the NMNL models offer a convenient framework for spatial choice problems when the number of disaggregate alternatives is impractically large, and when the presence of a structure of similarities between alternatives invalidates the commonly used simple MNL model. An extensive survey of different applications of the NMNL model to problems of discrete choice can be found in e.g. Hensher (1986, pp. 657-667) and Chintagunta (1992, pp. 161-175).

Another model which circumvents the IIA-problem by assuming a sequential decision process is Tversky's (1972a, 1972b) elimination-by-aspects (EBA) model.

The EBA model describes the choice process as a covert sequential elimination process. Each alternative is characterized by a set of measurable aspects (attributes). The choice process begins with the selection of an aspect and eliminates all the alternatives that do not possess the selected aspect. This

process continues until all the alternatives but one are eliminated. If a selected aspect is included in all the available alternatives, no alternative will be eliminated from the choice set and a new aspect is selected. Consequently, aspects that are common (similar) to all the alternatives under consideration do not affect the choice probability. It are the differential or distinctive aspects which play the critical role in influencing the choice probabilities. Thus, in contrast to the MNL model, the EBA model does allow for alternatives that have very different degrees of similarity. The choice process is probabilistic because no fixed prior ordering of aspects is assumed.

Tversky's EBA model is theoretically very well grounded but has not been that popular with researchers in an applied context due to some implementation problems. One such problem is that all the aspect's characteristics are essentially binary (the alternative either possesses or does not possess the aspect), so the absolute value of the characteristics play no role in the choice of the alternative. For nonbinary characteristics the choice maker refers to minimal thresholds that may cause him or her to reject or retain the alternative. However, this assumption may lead to counterintuitive results. Suppose that all the alternatives in the choice set have the same characteristics. In this case they are considered to be equiprobable. This result seems unlikely if one alternative has more of each characteristic. A second factor deals with the extend of the choice set. When there is a large number of alternatives, taking into account all possible sequences of elimination becomes a considerable timeconsuming chore. As a result a number of variants exist to the EBA model such as Tversky and Sattath's (1979) hierarchical EBA model. They propose a heuristic choice procedure that avoids the complete enumeration of all the possibilities.

Apart from models that incorporate substitution effects other factors may be responsible for making the choice model context-dependent. These context

Table 2: Context effects and their characteristics

context effects	characteristics
attraction effects	the introduction of a new alternative in the choice set increases the choice probability of an old alternative that is similar to the added alternative
choice set effects	changes in the size and composition of the choice set have an influence on the estimated parameter values
dominance effects	the introduction of an alternative that is better than all other alternatives on at least one attribute while it is not worse on the remaining attributes dominates the choice probability
edge aversion effects	individuals avoid choosing alternatives with extreme scores on a particular attribute
prominence effects	the introduction of a new alternative in the choice set causes an existing choice alternative to become more or less prominent, implying that the choice probability for this alternative may change
spatial structure effects: like (a) agglomeration effects and (b) competition effects	the spatial arrangement of the choice alternatives has an influence on the choice behaviour: like (a) when two choice alternatives, located relatively close to each other, decrease the choice probability of other alternatives and (b) when two choice alternatives, located relatively close to each other, increase the choice probability of other alternatives
threshold effects	individuals are indifferent between choice alternatives that show a small difference in utility. Therefore, only a certain threshold increase in utility may change the choice probabilities
weight shifting effects	a weight attached to a particular attribute of an alternative shifts to those attributes with the higher degrees of variability

 $^{^{20}}$ see also Smith and Yu (1982, pp. 225-249), Timmermans and Borgers (1985b, pp. 39-55; 1987, pp. 29-47), Borgers and Timmermans (1988, pp. 159-178), Eagle (1988, pp. 299-324) and Timmermans and Golledge (1990, pp. 326-328).

In conclusion, conventional discrete choice models, like the MNP and MNL model try to establish a functional relationship between the attributes of the choice alternatives and overt (observed) choice behaviour (Timmermans and Borgers, 1985b, p. 10; Timmermans and Golledge, 1990, p. 313). Due to the nature of the IIA-property a large number of context-dependent models have been developed.

2.2 Compositional multiattribute attitude models

Attitude models go as far back as 1956 when the psychologist Rosenberg (1956) first formulated his ideas on the relation between attitudinal behaviour and an individual's cognitive structure. The model tried to identify the factors that influence motivated behaviour. Most of its applications are found in the field of sociology and marketing science. Later contributions by Fishbein (1967a, 1967b) on attitudes and the prediction of behaviour, and by Cohen, Fishbein and Ahtola (1972) on the nature and uses of expectancy-value models in consumer attitude research have led to the development of the compositional multiattribute attitude model.

Compositional models have in common that the *overall utility* for a multiattribute choice alternative can separately and explicitly be calculated. Instead of deriving the attribute values from an individual's evaluation of an alternative as a whole or through his or her selection between different alternatives the overall evaluations or attitudes are directly measured. This can only be possible if one assumes that an individual can always provide valid and accurate evaluations of the attributes independently of any specific context.

It is also assumed that the decision rule governing the choice problem is deterministic. This means that an individual chooses the alternative which according to an a priori specified combination rule yields the highest overall evaluation or most positive attitude. In most cases the combination rule is assumed linear additive, but other specifications exists. The alternative with the

highest utility is then predicted as the chosen alternative and these predictions are compared with the actual choice behaviour to assess the goodness-of-fit of the model (Timmermans and Borgers, 1985b, p. 17). In a sense the compositional multiattribute attitude models are self-explanatory and do not involve a statistical estimation.

According to Timmermans (1985) the predictive ability of the compositional multiattribute attitude models is significantly less than that of decompositional models like e.g. conventional discrete choice models. But other factors also play to the disadvantage of compositional models. They do not account for context-effects, nor do they describe a realistic choice behaviour. Individuals are only asked to evaluate a certain attribute or alternative without taking into consideration the existing similarities or dissimilarities between different attributes and different alternatives. For this reason, Timmermans and Golledge (1990, p. 320) point out that only a few applications of compositional multiattribute attitude modelling exist in spatial analysis²¹.

2.3 Decompositional multiattribute preference/choice models

So far choice models are assumed to be based on 'real-world' or 'revealed preference' data, that is, choices and decisions that have actually been made. The parameters of such a revealed choice model are estimated by relating the data on observed actual choices to a set of attributes which is assumed to influence the choice behaviour. Working with actual choices has its advantages, but it also poses some practical limitations. Aside from the high survey costs, there is always the difficulty of distinguishing the effects of hardly noticeable attributes like e.g. quality or convenience (Bates, 1988a, p. 7). As a consequence, a new choice modelling approach came to the fore known as

²¹ Spatial applications of compositional multi-attribute attitude models in travel behaviour: Thomas (1976) and Knippenberg-den Brinker (1981); shopping behaviour: Timmermans (1980b); and recreational choice behaviour: Cooksey *et al.* (1982).

decompositional multiattribute preference/choice model, also termed stated preference and stated choice model.

The difference between stated preference (SP) and stated choice (SC) needs to be clarified. If the choice alternatives are ordered (ranked) or given a rating score the decision-maker expresses a preference (judgement) towards all the alternatives in the choice set. Eventually in the case of a deterministic utilitymaximizing decision rule the choice alternative which is ranked first or with the highest score will be selected. The data used in this kind of approach is called 'judgement data' (Green and Srinivasan, 1978). It implies that the data is at least ordinal in measurement level. If, however, the decision-maker is asked to identify one and only one alternative out of the choice set as the 'highest' or 'best', then he or she is asked to state a direct choice instead of a mere preference. The data used in this approach is called 'choice data' (Louviere and Hensher, 1982; Louviere and Woodworth, 1983). Louviere (1988b, p. 94). points out that the differences between judgement and choice data are important because judgement data may not contain information about choice behaviour and may not satisfy various assumptions necessary to forecast choice behaviour. By definition, choice data contains information on individuals' choice behaviour, but assumptions need to be made on the several possible choice processes that underly the data.

Decompositional multiattribute preference/choice models are based on two major assumptions. First, in contrast with discrete and compositional choice models, decompositional preference/choice models are not derived from data on actual choices, but from preferences or choice for a *hypothetical* choice alternative described in terms of a set of attributes. The model therefore typically involves with choice experiments using design data. Second, unlike compositional models in which an overall utility for a multi-attribute choice alternative is obtained, decompositional models attempt to derive *part-worth utilities* (or separate attribute-level contributions of utility) which are defined on the levels of the attributes by decomposing some overall utility measure into

scale values for the attribute levels. Individuals arrive at this so-called overall utility measure or value by *cognitively integrating* their evaluations on the choice alternative's attributes, thereby making subjective value judgements at the attribute levels, which combined, results in an overall judgement for the choice alternative (Timmermans, Borgers and van der Waerden, 1992, p. 408). In a sense this approach is associated with Anderson's (1974, 1981, 1982) Information Integration Theory (IIT) whereby a response is the result of the integration of information according to a certain mathematical rule (see also Lynch, 1985, pp. 1-19). Applied to choice models, this rule could be some simple combination rule or a utility function. Testing which rule will be most appropriate is an important factor within decompositional choice modelling. This measurement problem is also known as 'conjoint analysis' (Timmermans, 1984a, p. 191).

Following Timmermans (1984a, pp. 194-199) the construction of a decompositional multiattribute preference/choice model involves the following steps and decisions²²: (i) identification and selection of the number of relevant attributes to the choice process of interest; (ii) specification of the attribute levels; (iii) selection of a suitable method for the combination of the attribute levels into profiles of hypothetical choice alternatives; (iv) choosing a suitable way to present the choice alternatives to the respondents; and (v) selection of the technique of analysis to decompose the overall preferences or choices into part-worth (or utility weights) utilities associated with the choice alternative.

A rather straightforward first step in the construction of any choice model is the identification and selection of the *number of relevant attributes*. The attributes influencing the choice behaviour can be identified on the basis of a literature

see also Timmermans and van der Heijden (1984, p. 91), Timmermans and Borgers (1985b, p. 11), van der Heijden (1986, pp. 126-139), Kroes and Sheldon (1988, pp. 14-21), Fowkes and Wardman (1988, pp. 33-38), Timmermans (1988b, pp. 18-22), Louviere and Timmermans (1990a, p. 215), Timmermans and Golledge (1990, p. 314), Timmermans, Borgers and van der Waerden (1992, p. 408).

search, focus-group or in-depth interviews, questionnaires, multidimensional scaling, rating scales, principal component analysis, correspondence analysis, factor listing, repertory grid methods, protocol analysis, etc. (see also van der Heijden, 1986, pp. 127-130). We know that individuals attach varying importance to different attributes of the choice alternative and generally base their preference or choice on a small number of relatively important attributes (Timmermans and van der Heijden, 1984, p. 91). Therefore, the omission of influential attributes or the inclusion of irrelevant attributes strongly bias the results. The attributes included must also be reasonably realistic and as dissimilar from each other as possible as they are used to differentiate between the choice alternatives. As attributes increasingly diverge from the experiences of the choice maker or from what appears plausible the responses can be expected to become less reliable. Almost similar attributes characterizing the same alternative can cause confusion and should therefore be avoided. The selection of the number of attributes is also very important. If we consider to many attributes the choice design becomes unmanageable, and, if we include to few attributes the choice alternatives show less variation. As a rule the ratio of the number of choice alternatives and the number of estimated parameters should be as large as possible.

A second step is to describe the attributes in terms of attribute levels. Attribute levels make it possible to further specify the attribute. In most cases the number of levels is confined to just two or three, however, more levels are possible. An attribute defined in terms of two attribute levels usually takes on the particular form of 'yes' or 'no', 'present' or 'absent', 'small' or 'large', 'good' or 'bad', 'low' or 'high' etc. As in the case with the number of attributes, an increase in attribute levels makes the choice design more complex. This problem is viewed as an important practical limitation in the application of decompositional models. A possible solution has been put forward by Louviere (1984, pp. 148-155) and Louviere and Timmermans (1990b, pp. 291-309; 1990c, pp. 127-145). The method is called 'hierarchical information integration' and can be considered as an extension of Anderson's IIT. The

method is based on the assumption that a decision maker divides the set of attributes that influence his or her choice behaviour into subsets, thus hierarchically structuring the choice problem. The subsets are then separately evaluated and aggregated to arrive at an overall preference or choice (Borgers and Timmermans, 1993, p. 49).

A third decision concerns the selection of the *method for combination* of the attribute levels into profiles of hypothetical choice alternatives. The choice profiles can be generated using (i) a full factorial design, (ii) a fractional factorial design, or (iii) a trade-off design.

A full factorial design generates all possible combinations of attribute levels and allows one to estimate all main and all interaction effects. This approach can only be used if the number of attributes and attribute levels is limited because the respondents can only evaluate a fairly small number of alternatives (only 9 to 16 according to Kroes and Sheldon, 1988, p. 14) at a time²³. When a full factorial design yields too many profiles the number can be reduced by adopting a fractional factorial design. In that case only a selection or fraction of all possible combinations is presented to the respondents. It is assumed that certain interaction effects are negligible and can be ignored. The simplest fractional factorial design allows only the estimation of all main effects²⁴. It needs to be stressed that when factorial designs, full or fractional, are used, there is a chance that the attribute levels are combined in profiles that seem unrealistic or infeasible to the respondent. This problem can be solved by enabling the respondents to comment on what appears to them somewhat implausible situations and amend the choice design accordingly. A third

 $^{^{23}}$ A full factorial design for four attributes with two levels would generate $2^4 = 16$ profiles. But ten attributes all defined in terms of three attribute levels would yield $3^{10} = 59049$ experimental treatments! Clearly, such a choice design is unmanageable.

²⁴ The simplest fractional factorial design (also called orthogonal design) of the 2^4 -design yields 6 = (2*4-2) main effects. In the case of the 3^{10} -design 27 = (3*10-3) profiles, all main effects, are generated.

approach is called the trade-off design (see e.g. Johnston, 1974). It differs from the two above mentioned in that the respondents are asked to consider the attributes in pairs. This limits the number of possible hypothetical choice alternatives. But the pairwise comparison assumes that the trade-offs take place independent of the attributes not under consideration. Thus, interaction effects yield inaccurate results. Furthermore, as noticed by Timmermans (1984a, p. 196), the way of presenting the attribute combinations may also have an influence on the comparison. As a result, alternative designs (e.g. balanced design) have been put forward to construct choice profiles (see Green, 1974).

A fourth step in the construction of a SP or SC model is the decision upon the survey method. It involves choosing a suitable way to present the choice profiles to the respondents. Kroes and Sheldon (1988, p. 16) have a strong preference for face-to-face interviews because they allow for flexibility. Timmermans (1984a, p. 197) mentions a pictorial representation by way of index or option cards. Mail-back surveys (questionnaires) can be used for SP or SC research provided the task for the respondents is fairly easy and well explained. Mailing could be combined with a telephone follow-up. A more recent development, pointed out by Bradley (1988, pp. 131-136), is the use of portable computers to undertake computer-assisted interviews.

The fifth and final step deals with the selection of the *technique of analysis* to decompose the overall preferences or choices as provided by the respondents into part-worth utilities associated with the hypothetical choice alternatives. The method used, is called 'conjoint analysis'. In two excellent reviews Louviere (1988a, 1988b) distinguishes between three main conjoint paradigms: (i) rank-order conjoint methods, also called 'axiomatic conjoint measurement', (ii) rating-scale conjoint methods, also known as 'functional measurement', and (iii) discrete data conjoint methods. The first two relate to stated preference, the third to stated choice models.

Rank-order conjoint methods rely on a real ranking of the choice alternatives by

the respondents. Through the use of certain computer algorithms estimations of part-worth utilities can be derived. Most commonly, the iterative optimisation technique MONANOVA (acronym for MONotonic ANalysis Of VAriance) is used. It estimates the attribute part-worths by least-squares procedures in such a way that the fit between observed and predicted rankings is optimized, assuming that the utility specification is additive. A badness-of-fit index (called 'stress' value) indicates the adequacy of the proposed estimation. Rank-order methods have the advantage that the respondents do not have to rate the sets of attribute combinations. In that light Green and Srinivasan (1978, p. 112) argue that ranking is less difficult than rating. But Louviere (1988b, p. 95) points out that most individuals are not perfectly consistent in their ranking, implying that there is error in their data. Louviere (1988a, p. 25) also mentions that rank-order conjoint methods lack a formal theory and an error theory on which to base statistical tests of the part-worth parameters. And, Louviere (1988a, p. 26) continues, that researchers should be most cautious about using stress measures to determine the adequacy of the model's fit to the data.

Rating-scale conjoint methods differ from ranking procedures in that the respondents are asked to express their degree of preference for the various choice alternatives through the use of a score or rating scale. Timmermans (1984a, p. 198) and Hensher et al. (1988, p. 55) advice that the respondents should first select the most preferred alternative, giving it the highest score, and then provide ratings for the remaining choice alternatives as compared to the rating of the most preferred. Unlike rank-order methods, the rating-scale conjoint methods are based on a theory. This is called the Information Integration Theory (IIT) which was developed by Anderson (1974, 1981, 1982). It is a theory about the behaviour of numerical data in response to multiple pieces of information. It assumes that the overall evaluation of the choice alternatives is inferred by the respondent's combination or integration of all available information about the different determinant attributes. information can change the set of determinant attributes and the respondent's

beliefs about the attribute values can change as well by additional information prior to the choice. Following the evaluation, the respondents form final choice sets and decide which alternative, if any, to choose. The IIT has the advantage of possessing a theory of errors which permits it to falsify the model, something which was not possible using the ranking method. Let us know focus on how the theory is implemented and applied to spatial choice problems (see also Louviere, 1988a, pp. 13-15). The resemblance with random utility theory will soon become clear.

For a choice maker i (= 1, ..., I), X_{ijk} represents a physical measure for an alternative j (= 1, ..., J) characterized in terms of a number of physical variables or a set of determinant attributes k (= 1, ..., K). This physical measure is subject to the choice maker's own beliefs or impressions about the different attributes, resulting in a 'belief measure', denoted S_{ijk} . Beliefs or impressions about an attribute do not have to correspond with the physical characteristics. The functions $f1_k$ describe the relation between the physical and belief measure as follows:

$$S_{iik} = f1_k (X_{iik})$$
 [30]

The k-th part-worth utility associated with the k-th attribute of alternative j is defined as $V(S_{ijk})$. It represents the choice maker's opinion or feelings regarding the unknown part-worths for the levels of the alternative's attributes. The relation between S_{ijk} and $V(S_{ijk})$ is given by the functions $f2_k$:

$$V(S_{ijk}) = f2_k (S_{ijk})$$
 [31]

The overall utility value for an alternative j, U_{ij} , can be written as a function of the part-worth utilities:

$$U_{ij} = f3 \left[V(S_{ijk})\right]$$
 [32]

The probability that an alternative j is chosen from a choice set C_i is denoted as:

$$P(j \mid C_i) = f4 (U_{ii})$$
 [33]

By elementary substitution, we derive:

$$P(j \mid C_i) = f4 \{ f3 [f2_k (f1_k (X_{ijk}))] \}, \text{ or,}$$
 [34a]

$$P(j \mid C_i) = F(X_{iik})$$
 [34b]

where F is a composite function of the indicated functions in equation [34a]. This composite function indicates that several different levels of explanation of choice behaviour are possible: (i) explanations based entirely on physical variables, (ii) explanations based only on belief variables, (iii) explanations using only the part-worths, and/or (iv) explanations containing combinations of these variables (Louviere, 1988a, p. 14).

According to the IIT the overall utility of an alternative is linearly related to the choice maker's response on a category-rating scale. That is:

$$U_{ii} = a + b R_{ii} + e_{ii}$$
 [35]

where R_{ij} is the observed response on a category-rating scale, e_{ij} is a normally distributed error term, and a and b are parameters.

The aim of the model is to estimate the part-worth utilities in such a way that, given f3 is an additive function, the choice maker's rating of the alternatives is as closely as possible resembled by the physical and belief variables characterizing that alternative. If we combine the functions $f1_k$ and $f2_k$ from equations [30] and [31] we are able to relate the unknown part-worth utilities to the determinant attributes. This results in: $V(X_{ijk}) = f3_k$ (X_{ijk}) . Note that the choice maker's beliefs are now captured in the functions $f3_k$. Assuming that

these functions have a linear relationship, indicated by a parameter \mathcal{B}_k , than $V(X_{ijk}) = \mathcal{B}_k X_{ijk}$. This enables us to relate R_{ij} to X_{ijk} as follows:

$$R_{ij} = \sum_{k} \beta_k X_{ijk} + e_{ij}$$
 [36]

Through the use of e.g. regression analysis estimates for the \mathcal{B}_k 's can be found, thus deriving a weight for the part-worth utility of the k-th attribute from the choice maker's preference via the rating-scale method.

Discrete data conjoint methods rely upon an experimental design which satisfies the statistical requirements of MNL choice models. Unlike the ranking-order or rating-scale methods, this method does not require any assumptions to be made about order or cardinality of measurement. It has the advantage that one can estimate choice models directly from the choice data, assuming that the response data are discrete. The basic idea is that choice makers in real live situations probably do not rank nor rate alternatives, but they simply select one alternative or they choose not to select at all. In the choice experiments the choice maker is shown different sets of alternatives and is asked to choose among them or to allocate resources to them. This way of working allows one to study how choices vary if size or composition of choice sets are altered (Louviere, 1988b, p. 100; Hensher *et al.*, 1988, pp. 55-56). A drawback to this method is that the choice experiments are more difficult to design because one needs to develop two separate designs: one to create choice alternatives and a second to place the choice alternatives into choice sets.

Finally, Timmermans (1984a, pp. 198-199) proposes still other methods to measure the preference for the selected hypothetical choice alternatives. These include (graded) pair comparisons, magnitude scales, dollar-metric approach and constant-sum method.

In the area of spatial analysis examples of applications of the decompositional

multiattribute preference/choice models can be found with respect to (i) travel behaviour²⁵, (ii) migration and residential preferences and choice²⁶, (iii) shopping behaviour and retailing²⁷, (iv) recreational behaviour²⁸, and (iv) preferences or choice of industrial or office (re)location site²⁹.

To conclude this paragraph let us make a comparison of the two most commonly used static modelling approaches in spatial analysis: conventional discrete choice modelling (revealed choice) and decompositional multiattribute

²⁵ see e.g. Davidson (1973), Norman and Louviere (1974), Levin (1975, 1977), Louviere (1976, 1981), Louviere and Norman (1977), Norman (1977), Lerman and Louviere (1978), Hensher and Louviere (1979, 1983), Louviere et al. (1980), Timmermans and Overduin (1980), Louviere and Hensher (1982), Shelden and Steer (1982), Louviere and Kocur (1983), Bates (1983, 1988c), Bradley and Bovy (1984), Royal Aeronautical Society (1986), Timmermans (1987a, 1987b, 1988a), Wardman (1986), Fowkes and Wardman (1988), Hensher, Barnard and Truong (1988), Dinwoodie (1989), Bovy and Stern (1990), Anderson et al. (1992) and Ettema (1993).

see e.g. Fielder (1972), Knight and Menchik (1976), Louviere and Meyer (1976), Louviere and Henley (1977), Lieber (1978, 1979), Louviere (1978, 1986, 1988c), Veldhuisen (1979), Veldhuisen and Timmermans (1981, 1984), Phipps and Carter (1984, 1985), Phipps and Clark (1988), Phipps (1989), Timmermans (1989), Louviere and Timmermans (1990c), Timmermans *et al.* (1992) and Borgers and Timmermans (1993).

²⁷ see e.g. Louviere and Wilson (1978), Schuler and Prosperi (1978), Schuler (1979), Timmermans (1980a, 1982, 1983), Louviere and Meyer (1981), Recker and Schuler (1981), Burnett and Hanson (1982), Hendriks (1983a, 1983b), Timmermans, van der Heijden and Westerveld (1983, 1984a, 1984b), Timmermans and van der Heijden (1984), Timmermans, van der Heijden and Borgers (1984), Louviere and Gaeth (1986), van der Heijden (1986), Bates (1988c), van der Heijden and Timmermans (1988a) and Timmermans, Borgers and van der Waerden (1992).

²⁸ see e.g. Louviere (1974), Stutz and Butts (1976), Allton (1981), Curry *et al.* (1983), Louviere and Hensher (1983), Hensher and Louviere (1984), Lieber and Fesenmaier (1984), Louviere and Woodworth (1985), Timmermans (1987c), Lieber, Fesenmaier and Bristow (1988), van der Heijden and Timmermans (1988b), Haider and Ewing (1990), Louviere and Timmermans (1990b, 1992) and Batsell and Louviere (1991).

 $^{^{29}}$ see e.g. Timmermans (1986), van Dinteren and Reitsma (1986) and Moore (1988, 1990).

preference/choice modelling (stated preference/choice). Both approaches have a number of advantages as well as a number of disadvantages as put forward by e.g. Timmermans (1984a, pp. 214-216; 1984c, pp. 99-100), van der Heijden (1986, pp. 149-152), Kroes and Sheldon (1985, pp. 205-206; 1988, pp. 12-13), Wardman (1988, p. 89), Louviere and Timmermans (1990a, p. 214) and Timmermans, Borgers and van der Waerden (1992, pp. 414-415). Looking at the RC models, it may be argued that the collection of the data is somewhat easier than for SC models. But the latter is less expensive because the sample sizes are smaller. In the RC model the parameters are context-dependent. They are influenced by personal, societal and spatial constraints. The spatial structure of the study area also bias the results. Statistically, problems such as multicollinearity among the explanatory variables of interest, the difficulty of having sufficient variation in the data and IIA assumption may occur and can put some restrictions on the RC variables. The RC method can also not be used to evaluate a condition which does not yet exist. On the other hand, in the SC approach the parameters are estimated context-free which in turn produces somewhat more accurate predictions. The method is also easier to control and has a greater flexibility in dealing with a wider variety of variables. However, it also requires specialized advance knowledge to construct a good experimental design. The most important drawback of all SC models, as noticed by a number of authors, is the assumption that decision-making in an experimental setting equals real world choice behaviour. There is a risk that people may not necessarily do what they may say in which case the stated choice may not correspond closely to their actual preferences. In sum, both methods, RC and SC, should be used in a complementary way depending on the type of spatial choice analysis. Another possible solution is a combination of both methods. This is tried in our last paragraph on static choice models which deals with the hybrid choice models.

2.4 Hybrid evaluation models

Hybrid models differ from compositional and decompositional models what the

measurement procedures of the evaluation of choice alternatives and attribute levels is concerned, and with respect to the estimation of the importance weights. In a compositional (self-explicated) model an individual's evaluation of the attribute levels can separately and explicitly be measured. The choice alternative's overall evaluation is then computed or calculated from those attribute levels taking into account a number of different (measurable) subjective importance weights. In a decompositional model the overall evaluation associated with a set of choice alternatives is measured rather than computed. The part-worth utilities associated with the attribute levels are derived (decomposed) from this measurement. In hybrid evaluation modelling the decision maker makes an overall evaluation of each choice alternative and an evaluation of the different attribute levels characterizing the choice alternative. On the basis of those two evaluations an estimate using regression analysis can be found for the importance weights. This makes that the importance weights are not measured but estimated using multiple regression. Variations in the estimation method result in different hybrid model constructions. Hybrid choice models sometimes involve both discrete (qualitative) and continuous (quantitative) variables.

Timmermans and Borgers (1985b, pp. 18-22), Timmermans (1987c, pp. 67-76) and Timmermans and Golledge (1990, pp. 320-322) distinguish at least three types of hybrid models and area of applications: (i) models most commonly used in behavioural science and management science, (ii) models used in marketing, and (iii) models applied in marketing science. Only the first is most closely related to spatial choice analysis and theorized in the work of Huber (see Huber, Sahney and Ford, 1969; Huber, Daneshgar and Ford, 1971; Huber, 1974). With respect to spatial applications of the hybrid model the number of studies is very restricted. Miller and Lerman (1981) conducted a study of the retail store location of the clothing business. In their model clothing retailers decide in which shopping center to set up store and also the square feet of floor space they should rent and the number of employees they should hire to function optimally at that location. Timmermans (1987c) carried out a hybrid study in the

field of outdoor recreation behaviour. He paid particular attention to the predictive ability of hybrid models and found that hybrid models tended to preform better than compositional models but less that decompositional models.

The models so far reviewed all have in common that they deal with static choice behaviour. In recent years rapid developments are made in the field of dynamic choice behaviour.

3 Dynamic choice models

Dynamic discrete choice models explicitly take into account choice behaviour over *time*. The effects of past experience on choice behaviour are incorporated in the model. This makes it possible that preferences or choices may change as the decision maker adapts his or her behaviour to new situations.

The intertemporal nature of the choice problem has its implications on the collection of the data. It is no longer sufficient to use cross-sectorial data, but longitudinal survey data are needed. In most cases a classical panel survey is used whereby a same group of decision makers is asked to choose between different alternatives at different points in time. The great potential of panel data is that it enables one to explicitly recognize the intertemporal nature of the choice outcomes, especially the effects of experience on decisions (Fischer and Nijkamp, 1987, p. 15). A drawback of the method is that the original panel may become unrepresentative as panel members could drop out during the experiment due to the process of 'panel attrition' (Wrigley, 1986, p. 86). To circumvent this problem Wrigley (1986, pp. 85-87) proposes three other possible longitudinal survey methods. These include (i) repeated cross-sectorial surveys, (ii) rotating panel surveys, and (iii) split or mixed panel surveys.

Apart from specific data requirements the extension from static to dynamic choice models raises two fundamental methodological issues (Heckman, 1981a, p. 115; Halperin and Gale, 1984, p. 11; Halperin, 1985, p. 570): (i) how to

take structural state dependence effects into account, and (ii) how to deal with serial correlation or spurious state dependence?

Structural state dependence (or 'feedback' as it is sometimes termed) refers to the dependence of current on past behaviour and of future on current choice behaviour. Wrigley (1986, pp. 94-95) indicates several sources of state dependence influencing the choice outcome. He mentions first-order or higher order Markov effects (choice outcome depends on previous choices), duration effects (choice outcome depends on the length of time that elapsed since the last choice), lagged duration effects (choice outcome is influenced by previous elapsed interchoice time) and occurrence effects (choice outcomes depends on the number of times the various choice outcomes have been selected within a specific time period back from the present). Serial correlation or spurious state dependence is the result of omitting variables in the choice problem. Because of omitted variables we may draw incorrect inferences concerning the effect of the observed exogenous variables may not be correlated.

One of the first attempts to introduce both structural and spurious state dependence effects to conventional discrete choice models was made by Tardiff (1980). He views a recurrent choice as a sequence of static utility maximizing choices by the decision makers whose utility function may have been influenced by certain individual, structural and spurious state dependence effects. Tardiff (1980, pp. 25-30) suggests that the decision maker's standard utility function for random utility models, as originally specified in equation [5], should be replaced by:

$$U_{ijt} = \beta_{kt} X_{ijkt} + \sum_{m} \gamma_{jm} C_{im(t-1)} + \tilde{\epsilon}_{ij} + \epsilon_{ijt}^{*}$$
 [37]

whereby U_{ijt} represents the utility of choice alternative j for a choice maker i at time t; $\mathcal{B}_{kt} X_{ijkt} = V_{ijkt}$ represents the deterministic utility of an alternative j for a

choice maker i written as a linear additive function of various observable attributes k at time t; $C_{\text{im}(t-1)}$ is a variable which equals 1 if choice maker i chooses m in the previous period t-1, and 0 otherwise; $\tilde{\epsilon}_{ij}$ is an error term that allows for unobserved time-invariant effects; ϵ_{ijt} is an error term that varies among decision makers and time periods; and t (= 1, ..., T) is an exogenously given sequence of time periods.

The parameter y_{jm} needs to be estimated. If its value is positive (negative) it indicates an increased (decreased) choice probability in the subsequent period. By putting various components of the above specified utility function equal to zero, different special cases of the general data discrete choice model may be distinguished (see e.g. Fischer and Nijkamp, 1987, p. 18).

A second pioneer on dynamic discrete choice models is Heckman (1978, 1981a, 1981b). He developed a series of models for investigating the effects of conditional probability relationships between the occurrence of an event in one period and its occurrence in previous periods. In contrast with Tardiff's (1980) dynamic discrete choice model Heckman's (1981a) general model of dynamic choice can be used to analyze the structure of discrete choices made over time from a direct consideration of a complex error variable structure. This approach is called 'random-effect modelling' (Heckman, 1981a, p. 127). "The proposed model is sufficiently flexible to take into account time dependent explanatory variables, general spurious state dependence patterns for unmeasured attributes and complex structural state dependence inter-relationships among decisions taken in different time periods" (Fischer and Nijkamp, 1987, p. 19).

For the sake of illustration the Heckman (1981a, pp. 121-122) model is derived as follows³⁰: first, from a random sample of / choice makers, information is

³⁰ see also Halperin (1984, pp. 11-12), Halperin and Gale (1985, pp. 571-572), Timmermans and Borgers (1985, p. 101; 1989, p. 16) and Fischer and Nijkamp (1987, p. 19).

assembled on the presence or absence of an event (that is, a discrete choice) in each of T equi-spaced time intervals. It is assumed that an event in period t for a choice maker i can occur if and only if a continuous latent random variable, Y(i,t) crosses a threshold. Only for simplicity and convenience this threshold is assumed to be zero. If the event occurs, the dummy variable d(i,t)=1 if and only if $Y(i,t)\geq 0$; controversy, d(i,t)=0 if the event does not occur. The random variable Y(i,t) may be decomposed into a purely random disturbance component $\epsilon(i,t)$ and a deterministic component, V(i,t) which gives the following:

$$Y(i,t) = V(i,t) + \epsilon(i,t)$$
 [38]

with
$$Y(i,t) \ge 0$$
 if and only if $d(i,t) = 1$, and, [39a]

$$Y(i,t) < 0 \text{ if and only if } d(i,t) = 0.$$
 [39b]

The distribution of d(i,t) is generated by the distribution of $\epsilon(i,t)$ and V(i,t). In principal the distribution of the purely random error term may take on various specifications, but Heckman assumes that the disturbances are jointly normally distributed $[\epsilon(i,t) \sim N(0,\Sigma)]$ similar to the MNP model.

If Y(i,t) is assumed to be a linear functions of exogenous variables, X(i,t), lagged values of Y(i,t), and past outcomes d(i,t'), t' < t, Heckman's general model of dynamic choice may be expressed as follows:

$$Y(i,t) = \beta_k X(i,t) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \gamma(t-j,t) d(i,t-j) + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \lambda(j,t-j) \prod_{l=1}^{j} d(i,t-l)$$

$$+ G(L) Y(i,t) + \epsilon(i,t)$$
 [40]

with G(L) is a general lag operator of order K, $[G(L) = g_1L + g_2L^2 + ... + g_KL^K$, $L^K Y(i,t) = Y(i,t-K)]$ and \mathcal{B}_k , γ , and λ are coefficients. The five terms on the right

hand side of equation [40] all relate to different effects. These are (i) the effects of the observed choice-relevant attributes on utilities at time t, X(i,t); (ii) the effect of the entire past history on choice behaviour at time t represented by the lagged values of Y(i,t); (iii) the cumulative effect on current choices of the most recent continuous experience in a state (that is, a discrete choice); (iv) the effect of previous relative evaluations of the two states on current choices (habit persistence); and (v) random effects.

By imposing various restrictions on the coefficients and the distribution of the error term, a number of special cases may be derived from the general model. Without pursuing the subject any further, we mention such models as Bernoulli models, Markov models, renewal processes and Pólya schemes (see Heckman, 1981a).

Apart from Tardiff (1980) and Heckman (1981) similar approaches to dynamic discrete choice modelling have been suggested by other researchers. The dynamic extensions of the multinomial probit model were theorized by Daganzo and Sheffi (1982) and applied by e.g. Johnson and Hensher (1982) and Avery et al. (1983). Daganzo and Sheffi (1982, pp. 1377-1388) showed that the choice of a structural state dependence model, a serial correlation model, or any combination of the two is simply a model specification issue that can be decided by the researchers. The use of MNP allows for the investigation of a wide range of problems, particularly those associated with heterogeneity and state dependence. The major drawback to the model, in fact to any MNP model, is that the computational complexity of the estimation process increases with the product of the number of alternatives and time periods which can be handled. Therefore, most of the MNP research is confined to the binary case. Dynamic extensions of the logit model which account for the effect of the time factor and interactions between individuals first appeared in the work of Krishnan and Beckmann (1979) and, more important, de Palma and Lefevre (1983). Krishnan and Beckmann (1979, pp. 218-231) developed a dynamic binary logit model. Their choice model incorporates threshold effects and is able

to capture individual preference indifferences. The model proposed by de Palma and Lefevre (1983, pp. 103-124) is a multinomial logit choice model in which decision makers are able to interact in their decision process. As a consequence, the attributes describing the decision maker's choice process also depend on the behaviour of other choice makers. The model is formulated as an interactive continuous-time Markov process. In trying to evaluate the dynamic logit model Sonis (1984, p. 29) writes the following: "Just as the static multinomial logit model is characterized by its simplicity, its attractive analytical properties, and its interpretability, the incorporation into the logit model of time and social interaction transforms it into a mathematical intractable dynamic model."

In the last few years the field of dynamic choice modelling is rapidly growing. Fischer and Nijkamp (1987, pp. 21-23) advance a number of complementary and alternative approaches to dynamic choice modelling. First, in the human activity constraint time budget approach spatial choice decisions are viewed within a broader context and one uses a more realistic and more complex conceptualization. For instance, in this approach much attention is paid to the effect of multipurpose and multistop trips on business location and human shopping behaviour (see Hanson, 1980). The method looks appealing but the approach is essentially descriptive rather than explanatory and predictive. Second, in the so-called heuristic choice modelling approach one explicitly attempts to replicate individual decision making processes. With the help of computational process models choice making behaviour is simulated. Such models are important in the case of complex choice problems in which exhaustive research is infeasible. A third development in dynamic modelling is the master-equation approach. The method originates from sociology and tries to link micro and macro levels of a system (see Weidlich and Haag, 1983). It can take into account synergetic effects in the behaviour of different individuals (learning effect, social adaption processes, etc.) and allows to include micro utility elements in the choice probability distribution.

4 Concluding remarks

The primary aim of this paper was to review the fundamental principles of discrete choice modelling in the context of spatial choice behaviour. In particular, two general approaches of modelling were distinguished: static and dynamic discrete choice models.

Static choice models are theoretically very well grounded and have been very popular with researchers in an applied spatial context. The most well-known static discrete choice model is the multinomial logit (MNL) model. It offers a computational advantage that is unmatched by any other static model and, therefore, has widely been applied in a number of spatial choice studies. However, the MNL model suffers from the "independence from irrelevant alternatives" (IIA) axiom. This states that the choice probability of two seemingly similar alternatives is independent from one another. To circumvent this problem researchers have developed a number of non-IIA choice models such as the general extreme value model, the nested MNL model and the elimination-by-aspects model. At the same time a new modelling approach came to the fore, called decompositional multiattribute preference/choice model. This approach differs from conventional discrete choice models in that the preferences or choice are derived from hypothetical instead of actual choice alternatives. The method offers the advantage of making context-free estimates of the model's parameters which in turn produces somewhat more accurate predictions.

Dynamic discrete choice models take account of the time factor in the choice analysis. Most dynamic extensions of static discrete choice models evolve around the problem of how to deal with structural and spurious state dependence? A wide variety of dynamic models exists, but the number of applications is rather restricted. This is due to the fact that data collection is not easy (longitudinal survey data are required) and the model's statistical complexity can pose some problems (feedback elements, heterogeneity and

non-stationarity). Dynamic models are especially useful in cases of recurrent discrete choice situations such as short-run destination choices like shopping travel.

Discrete choice models are but one possible tool to analyze spatial choice behaviour. Other techniques of analysis exists upon which we have not commented. To name but a few, gravity and entropy-maximizing models (see e.g. Wilson, 1970 and 1974; Ewing, 1974; Webber, 1975; Cesario, 1976) try to explain spatial interactions and patterns resulting from aggregate individual choices across regions. Spatial variety seeking models (see e.g. McAlister, 1982; Borgers, van der Heijden and Timmermans, 1989) aim at predicting spatial choice-pattern on the basis of transition probabilities (the chance of choosing another alternative on the next choice-occasion). Stochastic models of buying behaviour such as brand/store choice models and purchase incidence models (see e.g. Timmermans and Borgers, 1989; Timmermans and Golledge, 1990) to study spatial consumer choice behaviour like the selection of stores or shopping centres. Decision net approaches (see e.g. Bettman, 1979; Park et al., 1981; Timmermans and van der Heijden, 1987) try to uncover individual choice and decision making processes by way of a net or tree structure.

It soon becomes clear that spatial choice behaviour and the problem of human decision making well exceeds the boundaries of regional geography. The relation with marketing, sociology, economics, planning, architecture, psychology, urban design, traffic engineering, and so on, make it possible that theories, models and applications on spatial choice behaviour are constantly growing and expanding.

References

ADLER, T. and M. BEN-AKIVA (1976) "Joint-choice model for frequency, destination and travel model for shopping trips". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. 569, pp. 136-150.

ADLER, T. and M. BEN-AKIVA (1979) "A theoretical and empirical model of trip chaining behavior". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **13B** (3), pp. 243-257.

AITCHISON, J. and J. BENNETT (1970) "Polychotomous quantal response by maximum indicant". Biometrika. Vol. 57 (2), pp. 253-262.

ALDRICH, J.H. and F.D. NELSON (1984) <u>Linear Probability</u>, <u>Logit and Probit Models</u>. Sage University Paper Series on Quantitative Applications in the Social Science, Series No. 07-045. Beverly Hills and London, Sage Publications.

ALLTON, D.J. (1981) An Experimental Approach to Modelling Spatial Choice in the Urban Recreation Environment. Carbondale, Southern Illinois University, Department of Geography, Ph.D. thesis.

AMEMIYA, T. (1973) "Regression analysis when the dependent variable is truncated normal". <u>Econometrica</u>. Vol. 41 (6), pp. 997-1016.

AMEMIYA, T. (1981) "Qualitative response models: a survey". <u>The Journal of Economic Literature</u>. Vol. **19**, pp. 1483-1536.

AMEMIYA, T. (1985) Advanced Econometrics. Cambridge, Harvard University Press.

ANAS, A. (1981) "The estimation of multinomial logit models of joint location and travel mode choice from aggregated data". <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>. Vol. **21** (2), pp. 223-242.

ANAS, A. (1982) <u>Residential Location Markets and Urban Transportation</u>. Economic Theory, Econometrics, and Policy Analysis with Discrete Choice Models. New York, Academic Press.

ANAS, A. and C. CHU (1984) "Discrete choice models and the housing price and travel to work elasticities of location demand". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. 15 (2), pp. 107-123.

ANAS, A and L.N. MOSES (1984) "Qualitative choice and the blending of discrete alternatives". The Review of Economics and Statistics. Vol. LXVI (4), pp. 547-555.

ANDERSON, D., A. BORGERS, D. ETTEMA and H. TIMMERMANS (1992) "Estimating availability cross effects in travel choice modeling: a stated choice approach". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **1357**, pp. 51-65.

ANDERSON, S.P. and A. DE PALMA (1992a) "The logit as a model of product differentiation". Oxford Economic Papers. Vol. 44 (1), pp. 51-67.

ANDERSON, S.P. and A. DE PALMA (1992b) "Multiproduct firms: a nested logit approach". Journal of Industrial Economics. Vol. XL (3), pp. 261-276.

ANDERSON, S.P., A. DE PALMA and G.-S. HONG (1992) "Firm mobility and location equilibrium". Canadian Journal of Economics. Vol. XXV (1), pp. 76-88.

ANDERSON, S.P., A. DE PALMA and J.-F. THISSE (1989) "Demand for differentiated products,

discrete choice models and the characteristics approach". The Review of Economic Studies. Vol. LVI (1), pp. 21-35.

ANDERSON, S.P., A. DE PALMA and J.-F. THISSE (1992a) "Interpretations of the logit discrete choice model in the theory of product differentiation". In: J.M.A. GEE and G. NORMAN Eds. (1992) Market Strategy and Structure. New York, Harvester Wheatsheaf.

ANDERSON, S.P., A. DE PALMA and J.-F. THISSE (1992b) <u>Discrete Choice Theory of Product Differentiation</u>. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press.

ANDERSON, N.H. (1974) "Information integration theory: a brief survey". In: D.H. KRANTZ, R.C. ATKINSON, R.C. LUCE and P. SUPPES Eds. (1974) Contemporary Developments in Mathematical Psychology (Vol. 2). San Francisco, W.H. Freeman, pp. 236-301.

ANDERSON, N.H. (1981) <u>Foundations of Information Integration Theory</u>. New York, Academic Press.

ANDERSON, N.H. (1982) Methods of Information Integration Theory. New York, Academic Press.

ANDERSTIG, C. (1987) "Residential location, tenure and secondary dwelling". <u>Scandinavian Housing and Planning Research</u>. Vol. 4 (1), pp. 145-162.

ARCANGELI, E.F., G. LEONARDI and A. REGGIANI (1985) "Alternative theoretical frameworks for the interpretation of random utility models". <u>Papers of the Regional Science Association</u>. Vol. LVIII, pp. 7-20.

AUFHAUSER, E., M.M. FISCHER and H. SCHÖNHOFER (1986) "A disaggregate probabilistic approach to a regulated housing market with an emphasis on the demand side: the Vienna case". Papers of the Regional Science Association. Vol. LX, pp. 133-154.

AVERY, R.B., L.P. HANSEN and V.J. HOTZ (1983) "Multiperiod probit models and orthogonality condition estimation". <u>International Economic Review</u>. Vol. 24 (1), pp. 21-35.

BAHRENBERG, G., M.M. FISCHER and P. NIJKAMP Eds. (1984) <u>Recent Developments in Spatial Data Analysis: Methodology, Measurement, Models</u>. Aldershot and Brookfield, Gower.

BANAI-KASHANI, A.R. (1990) "Dealing with uncertainty and fuzziness in development planning: a simulation of high-technology industrial location decision making by the analytic hierarchy process". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 22 (9)</u>, pp. 1183-1203.

BANERJI, S. and H.B. FISHER (1974) "Hierarchical location analysis for integrated area planning in rural India". <u>Papers of the Regional Science Association</u>. Vol. XXXIII, pp. 177-194.

BARTEZZAGHI, E., A. COLORNI and P.C. PALERMO (1981) "A search tree algorithm for plant location problems". <u>European Journal of Operational Research</u>. Vol. 7 (4), pp. 371-379.

BATES, J.J. (1983) "Stated preference techniques for the analysis of transport behaviour". Working Paper (presented at the World Conference on Transport Research). Hamburg.

BATES, J.J. (1988a) "Papers on stated preference methods in transport research: editorial". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. **XXII** (1), pp. 7-9.

BATES, J.J. (1988b) "Econometric issues in stated preference analysis". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. XXII (1), pp. 59-69.

BATES, J.J. (1988c) "Stated preference techniques and the analysis of consumer choice". In: N. WRIGLEY Ed. (1988) Store Choice, Store Location and Market Analysis. London, Routledge, pp. 187-203.

BATSELL, R.R. (1980) "A market share model which simultaneously captures the effects of utility and substitutability". <u>Working Paper 80-007</u>. Philadelphia, University of Philadelphia, Wharton School.

BATSELL, R.R. (1981) "A multiattribute extension of the Luce model which simultaneously scales utility and substitutability". Working Paper (conference held at Quail Roost). Tennessee.

BATSELL, R.R. (1982) "On utility, substitutability and the prediction of choice". Research in Marketing. Choice Models for Buyer Behaviour (supplement 1), pp. 243-258.

BATSELL, R.R. and J.C. POLKING (1985) "Modelling interproduct competitive effects: a new way to analyze competition and cannibalization". Marketing Science. Vol. 4 (3), pp. 177-198.

BATSELL, R.R. and J.J. LOUVIERE (1991) "Experimental choice analysis". Marketing Letters. Vol. 2 (3), pp. 199-214.

BECKER, G.M., M.H. DeGROOT and J. MARSCHAK (1963) "Probabilities of choices among very similar objects: an experiment to decide between two models". <u>Behaviorial Science</u>. Vol. 8 (4), pp. 306-311.

BEN-AKIVA, M. (1973) <u>Structure of Passenger Travel Demand Models</u>. Cambridge (Mass.), Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Department of Civil Engineering, Ph.D. thesis.

BEN-AKIVA, M. and M.G. RICHARDS (1976) "Disaggregate multimodal model for work trips in the Netherlands". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **569**, pp. 107-123.

BEN-AKIVA, M. and S.R. LERMAN (1979) "Disaggregate travel and mobility choice models and measures of accessibility". In: D.A. HENSHER and P.R. STOPHER Eds. (1979) <u>Behavioral Travel Modelling</u>. London, Croom Helm, pp. 654-679.

BEN-AKIVA, M. and S.R. LERMAN (1985) <u>Discrete Choice Analysis: Theory and Application to Travel Demand</u>. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press.

BEN-AKIVA, M. and T.J. ATHERTON (1977) "Methodology for short-range travel demand predictions". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. 11 (2), pp. 224-261.

BERKSON, J. (1944) "Application of the logistic function to bio-assay". <u>Journal of the American Statistical Association</u>. Vol. **39** (222), pp. 357-365.

BERKSON, J. (1951) "Why I prefer logits to probits". Biometrics. Vol. 7, pp. 327-339.

BETTMAN, J.R. (1979) <u>An Information Processing Theory of Consumer Choice</u>. Reading (Mass.), Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

BIEMER, P.P. and S.E. KIMES (1991) "An application of bootstrapping for determining a decision rule for site location". <u>Journal of Business and Economic Statistics</u>. Vol. **9** (2), pp. 189-196.

BLISS, C.I. (1934) "The method of probits". Science. Vol. 79, pp. 38-39 and 409-410,

BLACKLEY, P.R. (1985) "The demand for industrial sites in a metropolitan area: theory,

empirical evidence, and policy implications". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. 17 (2), pp. 247-261.

BLAUWENS, G. and E. VAN DE VOORDE (1988) "The valuation of time savings in commodity transport". <u>International Journal of Transport Economics</u>. Vol. XV (1), pp. 77-87.

BLOCK, H.D. and J. MARSCHAK (1960) "Random orderings and stochastic theories of responses". In: I. OLKIN, S. GHURYE, W. HOEFFDING, W. MADOW and H. MANN Eds. (1960) Contributions to Probability and Statistics. Stanford, Stanford University Press, pp. 97-132.

BOOTS, B.N. and P.S. KANAROGLOU (1988) "Incorporating the effects of spatial structure in discrete choice models of migration". <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>. Vol. 28 (4), pp. 495-509.

BORGERS, A. (1992) "'Random utility' modellen". <u>Stedebouwkundige Planologie II</u>. Eindhoven, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, Sectie Urbanistiek.

BORGERS, A.W.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1984) "A context-sensitive model of spatial choice behaviour". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1984) Behavioural Modelling in Geography and Planning. London, Croom Helm, pp. 159-178.

BORGERS, A.W.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1986) "City centre entry points, store location patterns and pedestrian route choice behaviour: a microlevel simulation model". <u>Socio-Economic Planning Sciences</u>. Vol. **20** (1), pp. 25-31.

BORGERS, A.W.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1987) "Choice model specification, substitution and spatial structural effects". <u>Regional Science and Urban Economics</u>. Vol. **17** (1), pp. 29-74.

BORGERS, A.W.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1988) "A context-sensitive model of spatial choice behaviour". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1988) Behavioural Modelling in Geography and Planning. Beckenham (Kent), Croom Helm, pp. 159-178.

BORGERS, A.W.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1993) "Transport facilities and residential choice behaviour: a model of multi-person choice processes". Papers in Regional Science - Journal of Regional Science Association International. Vol. 72 (1), pp. 45-61.

BORGERS, A., R. VAN DER HEIJDEN and H. TIMMERMANS (1989) "A variety seeking model of spatial choice behaviour". Environment and Planning A. Vol. 21 (8), pp. 1037-1048.

BORSCH-SUPAN, A. (1987) Econometric Analysis of Discrete Choice. Berlin, Springer Verlag.

BÖRSCH-SUPAN, A. (1990) "On the compatibility of nested logit models with utility maximization". <u>Journal of Econometrics</u>. Vol. **43** (3), pp. 373-388.

BOSKIN, M. (1974) "A conditional logit model of occupational choice". <u>Journal of Political Economy</u>. Vol. 82 (2), pp. 389-398.

BOUTHELIER, F. (1978) An Efficient Methodology to estimate and predict with Multinomial Probit Models: Applications to Transportation Problems. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press, Ph.D. thesis.

BOVY, P.H.L. and E. STERN (1990) <u>Route Choice: Wayfinding in Transportation Networks</u>. Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers.

BRADLEY, M. (1988) "Realism and adaption in designing hypothetical travel choice concepts". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. **XXII** (1), pp. 121-137.

BRADLEY, M.A. and P.H.L. BOVY (1984) "A stated preference analysis of bicycle route choice". Working Paper (presented at the Twelfth Annual Meeting of the PTRC). Warwick (Sussex).

BROUWER, F. and P. NIJKAMP (1984) "Linear logit models for categorical data in spatial mobility analysis". <u>Economic Geography</u>. Vol. **60** (2), pp. 102-110.

BULTEZ, A. and P. NAERT (1975) "Consistent sum constrained models". <u>Journal of American Statistical Association</u>. Vol. **70** (4), pp. 529-535.

BURNETT, K.P. (1973) "The dimensions of alternatives in spatial choice processes". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 5 (3), pp. 181-204.

BURNETT, P. and S. HANSON (1982) "The analysis of travel as an example of complex human behavior in spatially constrainted situations: definition and measurement issues". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **16A** (1), pp. 87-102.

CAMBRIDGE SYSTEMATICS INC. (1979) "Analytic procedures for estimating changes in travel demand and fuel consumption". Report No. DOE/PE/8628-1 (Vol. 2, prepared for the US. Department of Energy). Washington, US Department of Energy.

CAMBRIDGE SYSTEMATICS INC. (1984) "Estimation and application of disaggregate models of mode and destination choice". <u>Working Report</u> (prepared for the Direction des Etudes Générales). Paris, Regie Autonome des Transport Parisien.

CARLTON, D.W. (1983) "The location and employment choices of new firms: an econometric model with discrete and continuous endogenous variables". The Review of Economics and Statistics. Vol. LXV (3), pp. 440-449.

CAVANAGH, C. (1982) <u>Hypothesis Testing in Models with Discrete Dependent Variables</u>. Berkeley, University of California, Department of Economics, Ph.D. thesis.

CESARIO, F.J. (1976) "Alternative models for spatial choice". <u>Economic Geography</u>. Vol. **52** (4), pp. 363-373.

CHINTAGUNTA, P.K. (1992) "Heterogeneity in nested logit models: an estimation approach and empirical results". <u>International Journal of Research in Marketing</u>. Vol. 9 (2), pp. 161-175.

CLARK, C.E. (1961) "The greatest of a finite set of random variables". <u>Operations Research.</u> Vol. 9 (2), pp. 145-162.

CLARK, W.A.V. and J.L. ONAKA (1985) "An empirical test of a joint model of residential mobility and housing choice". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 17</u> (7), pp. 915-930.

CLARK, W.A.V. and W.F.J. VAN LIEROP (1986) "Residential mobility and household location modelling". In: P. NIJKAMP Ed. (1986) <u>Handbook of Regional and Urban Economics</u>. Vol 1: <u>Regional Economics</u>. Amsterdam, North-Holland Publishing Company, pp. 97-132.

COHEN, J.B., M. FISHBEIN and O.T. AHTOLA (1972) "The nature and uses of expectancy-value models in consumer attitude research". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. IX (4), pp. 456-460.

COLLETT, D. (1991) Modelling Binary Data. London, Chapman and Hall.

COOKSEY, R.W., T.L. DICKENSON and L.L. LOOMIS (1982) "Preference for recreational

environments: theoretical considerations and a comparison of models". <u>Leisure Sciences</u>. Vol. 5, pp. 19-34.

COOPER, L.G. and M. NAKANISHI (1983) "Standardizing variables in multiplicative choice models". <u>Journal of Consumer Research</u>. Vol. 10 (1), pp. 96-108.

COSCUNOGLU, O., B.J. HANSOTIA and M. SHAIKH (1985) "A new logit model for decision making and its application". <u>Journal of the Operational Research Society</u>. Vol. **36** (1), pp. 35-41.

COSSLETT, S.R. (1981) "Efficient estimation of discrete-choice models". In: C.F. MANSKI and D. McFADDEN Eds. (1981) <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric Applications</u>. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press, pp. 51-111.

COUGHLIN, C.C., J.V. TERZA and V. ARROMDEE (1991) "State characteristics and the location of foreign direct investment within the United States". <u>The Review of Economics and Statistics</u>. Vol. **LXXIII** (4), pp. 675-683.

COX, D.R. (1970) Analysis of Binary Data. London, Methuen.

CRAMER, J.S. (1991) The Logit Model. London, Edward Arnold.

CURRIM, I.S. (1982) "Predictive testing of consumer choice models not subject to independence of irrelevant alternatives". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. XIX (2), pp. 208-222.

CURRY, D.J., J.J. LOUVIERE, D. RAUCH and G.G. WOODWORTH (1983) <u>Recreation Destination Choice</u>. Final Report 35. Oakdale, University of Iowa, Institute of Urban and Regional Research.

DAGANZO, C.F. (1979) <u>Multinomial Probit</u>. The Theory and its Applications to Demand Forecasting. New York, Academic Press.

DAGANZO, C.F. and Y. SHEFFI (1982) "Multinomial probit with time series data: unifying state dependence and serial correlation models". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 14 (12)</u>, pp. 1377-1388.

DAGANZO, C.F., F. BOUTHELIER and Y. SHEFFI (1977) "Multinomial probit and qualitative choice. A computationally efficient algorithm". <u>Transportation Science</u>. Vol. 11 (3), pp. 338-358.

DAS, C. (1989) "A discrete optimalisation model for locational decisions: the case study of single super phosphate plant in West Bengal". <u>The Indian Journal of Economics</u>. Vol. **70** (276), pp. 23-38.

DAVIDSON, J.D. (1973) "Forecasting traffic on STOL". Operations Research Quarterly. Vol. 24 (4), pp. 561-569.

DEBREU, G. (1960) "Review of R.D. Luce, individual choice behaviour: a theoretical analysis". The American Economic Review. Vol. L (2), pp. 186-188.

DELLAERT, B. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1992) "Decompositional choice models of sequential decision-making processes". <u>Working Paper</u> (presented at the 32nd European Congress of the Regional Science Association, Brussels). Eindhoven, Urban Planning Group.

DE PALMA, A. (1988) "Competitive location under the logit". Working Paper. Rotterdam, Erasmus University, Econometric Institute.

DE PALMA, A. and C.E. LEFEVRE (1983) "Individual decision making in dynamic collective systems". <u>Journal of Mathematical Sociology</u>. Vol. **9** (1), pp. 103-124.

DINWOODIE, J. (1989) "A stated preference approach to forecasting suburban rail demand in Eastern Plymouth". Working Paper (presented at the Annual Meeting of the PTRC). Brighton (U.K.).

DOMENCICH, T.A. and D. McFADDEN (1975) <u>Urban Travel Demand</u>. A Behaviourial Analysis. Amsterdam, North-Holland Publishing Company.

DUBIN, J. (1986) "A nested logit model of space and water heat system choice". Marketing Science. Vol. 5 (2), pp. 112-124.

DUTT, J.E. (1976) "Numerical aspects of multivariate normal probabilities in econometric models". <u>Annals of Economic and Social Measurement</u>. Vol. 5 (4), pp. 547-562.

EAGLE, T. (1988) "Context-effects in consumer spatial behaviour". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1988) <u>Behavioural Modelling in Geography</u>. London, Croom Helm, pp. 299-324.

ELLICKSON, B. (1981) "An alternative test of the hedonic theory of housing markets". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. **9** (1), pp. 56-80.

ERICKSON, R.A. and M. WASYLENKO (1980) "Firm relocation and site selection in suburban municipalities". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. 8 (1), pp. 69-85.

ERICKSON, R.A. and M. WASYLENKO (1981) "Relocation consideration by central city manufacturing firms". <u>The Review of Regional Studies</u>. Vol. 11 (1), pp. 42-57.

ERIKSSON, E.A. (1986) "Generalized extreme value discrete choice demand models: existence and uniqueness of market equilibria". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 16 (4), pp. 547-572.

ETTEMA, D. (1993) <u>Vervoermiddelkeuze in de Vervoersregio Eindhoven</u>. Een Gecombineerde Revealed Choice/Stated Choice Benadering. Eindhoven, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven.

EVANS, A.W. (1980) "A methodological note on the use of regression equations for the purpose of simulating change in urban location patterns". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 12</u> (8), pp. 921-926.

EVERS, G.H.M. (1989) "Simultaneous models for migration and commuting: macro and micro-economic approaches". In: J. VAN DIJK et al. Eds. (1989) <u>Migration and Labour Market Adjustment</u>. Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 177-197.

EVERS, G.H.M. and A. VAN DER VEEN (1983) "A theoretical framework for analyzing labour supply-mobility: an application of spatial discrete choice modelling". <u>Working Paper</u> (presented at the 23rd European Congress of the Regional Science Association). Poitiers, Regional Science Association.

EWING, G.O. (1974) "Gravity and linear regression models of spatial interaction: a cautionary note" <u>Economic Geography</u>. Vol. **50** (1), pp. 83-88.

FADER, P.S. (1992) "Integrating the Dirichlet-multinomial and multinomial logit models of brand choice". Working Paper 91-013R (presented at the Marketing Science Conference 1992). Pennsylvania, University of Pennsylvania, Wharton Marketing Department.

FALCHI, P. and R. MARIANO (1984) "Calibration of residential location models for a multiplant firm". <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>. Vol. **24** (1), pp. 93-104.

FIELDER, J.A. (1972) "Condominium design and pricing: a case study in consumer trade-off analysis". In: M. VENKATESAN Ed. (1972) <u>Proceedings of the Third Annual Conference of the Association for Consumer Research</u>. Ann Arbor, Association for Consumer Research, pp. 279-293.

FINNEY, D. (1971) <u>Probit Analysis</u> (3rd Edition). Cambridge and New York, Cambridge University Press.

FISCHER, M.M. (1986) "Travel demand modelling: a state-of-the-art review". In: P. NIJKAMP and S. REICHMAN Eds. (1986) <u>Transportation Planning in a Changing World</u>. Aldershot, Gower, pp. 171-188.

FISCHER, M.M. and E. AUFHAUSER (1986) "Housing choice in a regulated market: a nested multinomial logit analysis". <u>Working Paper</u> (presented at the 33rd North American Meeting of the Regional Science Association). Columbus, Regional Science Association.

FISCHER, M.M. and E. AUFHAUSER (1988) "Housing choice in a regulated market: a nested multinomial logit model". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 20 (1), pp. 47-69.

FISCHER, M.M. and G. MAIER (1984) "Spatial discrete choice and labour supply modelling: some alternative probability choice structures". Working Paper (presented at the Meeting of the IGU Working Group on Systems Analysis and Mathematical Models). Besancon.

FISCHER, M.M. and G. MAIER (1986) "Regional labour supply mobility and the logit model: testing some alternative probability choice structures by means of Monte Carlo simulation". In: M.M. FISCHER and F.-J. KEMPER Eds. (1986) Modelle für diskrete Daten und raumbezogene Probleme. Vienna, Österreichisches Institut für Raumplanung. Reihe B12, pp. 38-75.

FISCHER, M.M. and P. NIJKAMP (1985) "Developments in explanatory discrete spatial data and choice analysis". <u>Progress in Human Geography</u>. Vol. **9** (4), pp. 515-551.

FISCHER, M.M. and P. NIJKAMP (1987) "From static towards dynamic discrete choice modelling: a state of the art review". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 17 (1), pp. 3-27.

FISHBEIN, M. (1967a) "A consideration of beliefs and their role in attitude measuring". In: M. FISHBEIN Ed. (1967) Readings in Attitude Theory and Measurement. New York, John Wiley, pp. 257-266.

FISHBEIN, M. (1967b) "A behavior theory approach to the relations between beliefs about an object and the attitude toward the object". In: M. FISHBEIN Ed. (1967) Readings in Attitude Theory and Measurement. New York, John Wiley, pp. 389-400.

FOWKES, T. and M. WARDMAN (1988) "The design of stated preference travel choice experiments, with special reference to inter-personal taste variation". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. **XXII** (1), pp. 27-44.

FRIEDMAN, J. (1974) Housing Location and Supply of Local Public Services. Berkeley,

University of California, Department of Economics, Ph.D. thesis.

FRIEDMAN, J., D.A. GERLOWSKI and J. SILBERMAN (1992) "What attracts foreign multinational corporations? Evidence from branch plant location in the United States". <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>. Vol. **32** (4), pp. 403-418.

GABRIEL, S.A. and S.S. ROSENTHAL (1989) "Household location and race: estimates of a multinomial logit model". <u>The Review of Economics and Statistics</u>. Vol. **LXXI** (2), pp. 240-249.

GADDUM, J.H. (1933) Reports on Biological Standard III. Methods of Biological Assay depending on a Quantal Response. London, Medical Research Council, Special Report Series No. 183.

GAUDRY, M.J.I. and M.G. DAGENAIS (1979) "The dogit model". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **13B** (2), pp. 105-112.

GAUTSCHI, D.A. (1981) "Specification of patronage models for retail centre choice". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. **XVIII** (2), pp. 162-174.

GENSCH, D.H. and J.A. SVESTKA (1979) "An exact hierarchical algorithm for determining aggregate statistics from individual choice data". <u>Management Science</u>. Vol. **25** (10), pp. 939-952.

GOLLEDGE, R.G. and R.J. STIMSON (1987) <u>Analytical Behavioural Geography</u>. London, Croom Helm.

GOLOB, T.F., R.L. GUSTAFSON and J.J. BECKMAN (1973) "An economic utility theory approach to spatial interaction". <u>Papers of the Regional Science Association</u>. Vol. XXX, pp. 159-182.

GREEN, P.E. (1974) "On the design of multiattribute choice experiments involving a large number of factors and factor levels". In: S. WARD and P. WRIGHT Eds. (1974) <u>Advances in Consumer Research (Vol. I)</u>. Urbana (Illinois), Association for Consumer Research.

GREEN, P.E. and V. SRINIVASAN (1978) "Conjoint analysis in consumer research: issues and outlook". <u>Journal of Consumer Research</u>. Vol. 5 (2), pp. 103-123.

GUMBEL, E.J. (1961) "Bivariate logistic distributions". <u>Journal of the American Statistical Association</u>. Vol. **56** (194), pp. 335-349.

HAIDER, W. and G.O. EWING (1990) "A model of tourist choices of hypothetical carribean destinations". Leisure Science. Vol. 12, pp. 33-47.

HALLDIN, C. (1974) "The choice axiom, revealed preference, and the theory of demand". Theory and Decision. Vol. 5 (2), pp. 139-160.

HALPERIN, W.C. (1985) "The analysis of panel data for discrete choices". In: P. NIJKAMP, H. LEITNER and N. WRIGLEY Eds. (1985) Measuring the Unmeasurable: The Analysis of Qualitative Spatial Data. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, pp. 561-586.

HALPERIN, W.C. and N. GALE (1984) "Towards behavioural models of spatial choice: some recent developments". In: D.E. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. London, Pion, pp. 9-28.

HANSEN, E.R. (1987) "Industrial location choice in São Paulo, Brazil: a nested logit model".

Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 17 (1), pp. 89-108.

HANSON, S. (1980) "Spatial diversification and multipurpose travel: implications for choice theory". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 12 (3), pp. 245-257.

HAUSER, J. and A. TVERSKY (1981) "Agendas and choice probabilities". Working Paper (presented at a conference held at Quail Roost). Tennessee.

HAUSMAN, J.A. and D.A. WISE (1978) "A conditional probit model for qualitative choice: discrete decisions recognizing interdependence and heterogeneous preferences". <u>Econometrica</u>. Vol. **46** (2), pp. 403-426.

HAUSMAN, J.A. and D. McFADDEN (1984) "Specification tests for the multinomial logit model". <u>Econometrica</u>. Vol. **52** (5), pp. 1219-1240.

HAYASHI, Y., T. ISOBE and Y. TOMITA (1986) "Modelling the long-term effects of transport and land use policies on industrial locational behaviour: a discrete choice model system". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 16 (1), pp. 123-143.

HAYNES, K.E., D.H. GOOD and T. DIGNAN (1988) "Discrete spatial choice and the axiom of interdependence from irrelevant alternatives". <u>Socio-Economic Planning Sciences</u>. Vol. 22 (6), pp. 241-251.

HECKMAN, J.J. (1978) "Simple statistical models for discrete panel data developed and applied to test the hypothesis of true state dependence against the hypothesis of spurious state dependence". Annals de l'Insee. Vol. 30-31, pp. 227-269.

HECKMAN, J.J. (1981a) "Statistical models for discrete panel data". In: C.F. MANSKI and D. McFADDEN Eds. (1981) Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric Applications. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press, pp. 114-178.

HECKMAN, J.J. (1981b) "The incidental parameters problem and the problem of initial conditions in estimating a discrete time-discrete data stochastic process". In: C.F. MANSKI and D. McFADDEN Eds. (1981) <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric Applications</u>. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press, pp. 179-195.

HENDRIKS, P. (1983a) <u>De Betekenis van Winkelgedrag: Een Beschouwing over de Modelbouw in Distributieplanologisch Onderzoek.</u> Nijmegen, Geografisch Instituut Nijmegen, Vakgroeppublikatie T.M.T.

HENDRIKS, P. (1983b) "Unidimensionele conjunctanalyse en het voorspellen van geaggregeerd ruimtelijk koopgedrag". <u>Planning</u>. Vol. **21** (1), pp. 11-19.

HENLEY, A., A. CARRUTH, A. THOMAS and R. VICKERMAN (1989) "Location choice and labour market perceptions: a discrete choice study". <u>Regional Studies</u>. Vol. **23** (5), pp. 431-445.

HENSHER, D.A. (1978) "A review of individual choice modelling". Working Report (prepared for the Department of the Environment Housing and Community Development Project). London.

HENSHER, D.A. (1983) "A sequential attribute dominance model of probabilistic choice". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. 17A (2), pp. 215-218.

HENSHER, D.A. (1986) "Sequential and full information maximum likelihood estimation of a nested logit model". <u>The Review of Economics and Statistics</u>. Vol. **LXVIII** (4), pp. 657-667.

HENSHER, D.A. (1989) "An assessment of attrition in a multi-wave panel of households". In: J. HAUSER, H. TIMMERMANS and N. WRIGLEY Eds. (1989) <u>Urban Dynamics and Spatial Choice Behaviour</u>. Theory and Decision Library (Vol. 49), Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 105-124.

HENSHER, D.A. and J.J. LOUVIERE (1979) "Behavioural intensions as predictors of very specific behaviour". <u>Transportation</u>. Vol. 8 (2), pp. 167-172.

HENSHER, D.A. and J.J. LOUVIERE (1983) "Identifying individual preferences for international air fares: an application of functional measurement theory". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. XVII (3), pp. 225-245.

HENSHER, D.A. and J.J. LOUVIERE (1984) "Towards an approach to forecasting attendence at unique events using a discrete choice model and experimental design data". In: D.A. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. Pion, London, pp. 67-87.

HENSHER, D.A. and A.K. TAYLOR (1983) "Intra-urban residential relocation choices for students: an empirical inquiry". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 15 (8)</u>, pp. 815-830.

HENSHER, D.A. and L.W. JOHNSON (1981) <u>Applied Discrete-Choice Modelling</u>. London, Croom Helm.

HENSHER, D.A., P.O. BARNARD and T.P. TRUONG (1988) "The role of stated preference in studies of travel choice". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. **XXII** (1), pp. 45-58.

HINLOOPEN, E., P. NIJKAMP and P. RIETVELD (1983) "Qualitative discrete multiple criteria choice models in regional planning". <u>Regional Science and Urban Economics</u>. Vol. 13 (1), pp. 77-102.

HOROWITZ, J.L. (1979) "A disaggregate demand model for non-work travel". <u>Transportation</u> Research Record. No. **673**, pp. 56-71.

/HOROWITZ, J.L. (1980a) "A utility maximizing model of the demand for multi-destination non-work travel". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **14B** (4), pp. 369-386.

HOROWITZ, J.L. (1980b) "Random utility models of urban nonwork travel demand: a review". Papers of the Regional Science Association. Vol. XLV, pp. 125-137.

HOROWITZ, J.L. (1985) "Random utility travel demand models". In: G.R.M. JANSEN, P. NIJKAMP and C.J. RUIJGROK Eds. (1985) <u>Transportation and Mobility in an Era of Transition</u>. Amsterdam, North Holland Publishing Company, pp. 141-156.

HUBER, G.P. (1974) "Multiattribute utility models: a review of field and field-like studies". Management Science. Vol. **20**, pp. 1393-1402.

HUBER, G.P., R. DANESHGAR and D.L. FORD (1971) "An empirical comparison of five utility models for predicting job preferences". <u>Organizational Behavior and Human Performance</u>. Vol. 6 (2), pp. 267-282.

HUBER, G.P., V. SAHNEY and D.L. FORD (1969) "A study of subjective evaluation models". <u>Behavioral Science</u>. Vol. 14, pp. 483-489.

HUBER, J. (1982) "The effects of set composition on item choice: separating attraction, edge aversion and substitution effects". Working Paper. Durham, Duke University.

HUBER, J. and M. SEWALL (1982) "The effect of item similarity on aggregate choice: modelling dominance and substitution effects". Working Paper. Durham, Duke University.

HUGHES, G. and B. McCORMICK (1989) "Does migration reduce differentials in regional unemployment rates?". In: J. VAN DIJK et al. Eds. (1989) <u>Migration and Labour Market Adjustment</u>. Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 85-108.

HUNT, J.D. and S. TEPLY (1993) "A nested logit model of parking location choice". Transportation Research. Vol. 27B (4), pp. 253-265.

JAIN, D.C. and F.M. BASS (1989) "Effect of choice set size on choice probabilities: an extended logit model". International Journal of Research in Marketing. Vol. 6 (1), pp. 1-11.

JANSEN, D.W. and C.G. DE VRIES (1991) "On the frequency of large stock returns: putting booms and busts into perspective". The Review of Economics and Statistics. Vol. LXXIII (1), pp. 18-24.

JOHNSON, L. and D.A. HENSHER (1982) "Application of multinomial probit to a two-period panel data set". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **16A** (4), pp. 457-464.

JOHNSON, N.L. and S. KOTZ (1970) <u>Continuous Univariate Distributions-1</u>. New York, Houghton Mifflin Company.

JOHNSTON, R.M. (1974) "Trade-off analysis of consumer values". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. XI (1), pp. 121-127.

KAMAKURA, W.A. and R.K. SRIVASTAVA (1984) "Predicting choice shares under conditions of brand interdependence". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. XXI (4), pp. 420-434.

KASANEN, P. and T.R. LAKSHMANAN (1989) "Residential heating choices of Finnish households". <u>Economic Geography</u>. Vol. **65** (2), pp. 130-145.

KNIGHT, R.L. and M.D. MENCHIK (1976) "Conjoint preference estimation for residential land use policy evaluation". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and G. RUSHTON Eds. (1976) Spatial Choice and Spatial Behaviour. Columbus, Ohio State University Press, pp. 135-155.

KNIPPENBERG-DEN BRINKER, C.W.F. (1981) "Een gedragsmodel voor keuze tussen auto en fiets". In: <u>Colloquium Vervoersplanologisch Speurwerk</u>. Nieuwe Tendensen in de Vervoersplanologie Delft. Delft, pp. 385-399.

KOHN, M.G., C.F. MANSKI and D.S. MUNDEL (1976) "An empirical investigation of factors which influence college-going behavior". <u>Annals of Economic and Social Measurement</u>. Vol. 5 (4), pp. 391-420.

KOPPELMAN, F.S. and J.R. HAUSER (1978) "Destination choice behaviour for non-grocery shopping trips". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **673**, pp. 157-165.

KOPPELMAN, F.S. and E.I. PAS (1985) "Travel-activity behavior in time and space: methods for representation and analysis". In: P. NIJKAMP, H. LEITNER and N. WRIGLEY Eds. (1985) Measuring the Unmeasurable: The Analysis of Qualitative Spatial Data. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, pp. 587-628.

KRIESEL, W. and K.T. McNAMARA (1991) "A county-level model of manufacturing plant recruitment with improved industrial site quality measurement". <u>Southern Journal of Agricultural Economics</u>. Vol. **23** (1), pp. 121-127.

KRISHNAN, K.S. and M.J. BECKMANN (1979) "Dynamic disaggregate choice models with an application in transportation". <u>Decision Sciences</u>. Vol. **10** (3), pp. 218-231.

KROES, E.P. and R.J. SHELDON (1985) "Stated preference techniques in measuring travel elasticities". In: G.R.M. JANSEN, P. NIJKAMP and C.J. RUIJGROK Eds. (1985) <u>Transportation and Mobility in an Era of Transition</u>. Amsterdam, North Holland Publishing Company, pp. 201-210.

KROES, E.P. and R.J. SHELDON (1988) "Stated preference methods: an introduction". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. **XXII** (1), pp. 11-25.

LANDAU, U., J.N. PRASHKER and B. ALPERN (1982) "Evaluation of activity constrained choice sets to shopping destination choice modelling". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **16A** (3), pp. 199-207.

LAVE, C. (1970) "The demand for urban mass transportation". Review of Economics and Statistics. Vol. LII (3), pp. 320-323.

LEE, H.L. and M.A. COHEN (1985) "A multinomial logit model for the spatial distribution of hospital utilization". <u>Journal of Business and Economic Statistics</u>. Vol. 3 (2), pp. 159-168.

LEE, K.S. (1990) "A model of intraurban employment location: estimation results from Seoul data". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. **27** (1), pp. 60-72.

LEONARDI, G. (1983) "The use of random-utility theory in building location-allocation models". In: J.-F. THISSE and H.G. ZOLLER Eds. (1983) <u>Locational Analysis of Public Facilities</u>. Amsterdam, North-Holland Publishing Company, pp. 357-383.

LEONARDI, G. and R. TADEI (1984) "Random utility demand models and service location". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 14 (3), pp. 399-431.

LERMAN, S.R. (1975) <u>A Disaggregate Behaviour Model of Urban Mobility Decisions.</u>
Massachusetts, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Department of Civil Engineering, Ph.D. thesis.

LERMAN, S.R. (1977) "Location, housing, automobile ownership, and mode to work: a joint choice model". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **610**, pp. 6-11.

LERMAN, S.R. (1979) "The use of disaggregate choice models in semi-Markov process models of trip chaining behavior". <u>Transportation Science</u>, Vol. 13 (2), pp. 273-291.

LERMAN, S.R. and C.F. MANSKI (1981) "On the use of simulated frequencies to approximate choice probabilities". In: C.F. MANSKI and D. McFADDEN Eds. (1981) <u>Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric Applications</u>. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press, pp. 305-319.

LERMAN, S.R. and J.J. LOUVIERE (1978) "Using functional measurement to identify the form of utility function in travel demand analysis". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **673**, pp. 78-86.

LERMAN, S.R. and T.-K. LIU (1984) "Microlevel econometric analysis of retail closure". In: D.A. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. Pion, London, pp. 181-201.

LEVEN, C.L. and J.H. MARK (1977) "Revealed preference for neighbourhood characteristics". <u>Urban Studies</u>. Vol. **14** (2), pp. 147-159.

- LI, M.M. (1977) "A logit model of homeownership". Econometrica. Vol. 45 (5), pp. 1081-1097.
- LIEBER, S.R. (1978) "Place utility and migration". Geografiska Annaler B. Vol. 60 (1), pp. 16-27.
- LIEBER, S.R. (1979) "An experimental approach for the migration decision process". <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>. Vol. LXX (1), pp. 75-85.
- LIEBER, S.R. and D.R. FESENMAIER (1984) "Modelling recreation choice: a case study of management alternatives in Chicago". Regional Studies. Vol. 18 (1), pp. 31-43.
- LIEBER, S.R., D.R. FESENMAIER and R.S. BRISTOW (1988) "Social and environmental characteristics affecting alternatives for outdoor recreation participation". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1988) <u>Behavioural Modelling in Geography</u>. London, Croom Helm, pp. 272-298.
- LIN, Y.-J., G.L. PETERSON and P.A. ROGERSON (1988) "A nested urban recreation site choice model". Leisure Sciences. Vol. 10, pp. 1-15.
- LINNEMAN, P. and P.E. GRAVES (1983) "Migration and job change: a multinomial logit approach". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. 14 (3), pp. 263-279.
- LO, A.W. (1986) "Logit versus discriminant analysis". <u>Journal of Econometrics</u>. Vol. **31** (2), pp. 151-178.
- LONGLEY, P.A. (1984a) "Comparing discrete choice models: some housing market examples". In: D.A. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. Pion, London, pp. 163-180.
- LONGLEY, P.A. (1984b) "Discrete choice modelling and complex spatial choice: an overview". In: G. BAHRENBERG, M.M. FISCHER and P. NIJKAMP Eds. (1984) Recent Developments in Spatial Data Analysis: Methodology, Measurement, Models. Aldershot and Brookfield, Gower, pp. 375-392.
- LONGLEY, P.A. and N. WRIGLEY (1984) "Scaling residential preferences: a methodological note". <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>. Vol. **LXXV** (4), pp. 292-299.
- LOUVIERE, J.J. (1978) "Modelling individual residential preferences: a totally disaggregate approach". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **13A** (1), pp. 1-15.
- LOUVIERE, J.J. (1981) "A conceptual and analytical framework for understanding spatial and travel choice". Economic Geography. Vol. 57 (4), pp. 304-314.
- LOUVIERE, J.J. (1984) "Hierarchical information integration: a new method for the design and analysis of complex multiattribute judgement problems". In: T.C. KINNEAR Ed. (1984) Advances in Consumer Research (Vol. XI). Provo (Utah), Association for Consumer Research, pp. 148-155.
- LOUVIERE, J.J. (1988a) <u>Analyzing Decision Making: Metric Conjoint Analysis</u>. Sage University Paper Series on Quantitative Applications in the Social Science, Series No. 07-067. Beverly Hills and London, Sage Publications.
- LOUVIERE, J.J. (1988b) "Conjoint analysis modelling of stated preference: a review of theory, methods, recent developments and external validity". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. **XXII** (1), pp. 93-119.

LOUVIERE, J.J. (1988c) "An experimental design approach to the development of conjoint based choice simulation systems with an application of forecasting future retirement migration destination choices". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1988) Behavioural Modelling in Geography and Planning. Beckenham (Kent), Croom Helm, pp. 325-355.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and D.A. HENSHER (1982) "On the design and analysis of simulated choice or allocation experiments in travel choice modelling". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **890**, pp. 11-17.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and D.A. HENSHER (1983) "Using discrete choice models with experimental design data to forecast consumer demand for a unique cultural event". <u>Journal of Consumer Research</u>. Vol. 10 (3), pp. 348-361.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and D. HENLEY (1977) "Information integration theory applied to student apartment selection decisions". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **890**, pp. 11-17.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and E. WILSON (1978) "Predicting consumer response in travel analysis". <u>Transportation Planning and Technology</u>. Vol. 4 (1), pp. 1-19.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and G. KOCUR (1983) "The magnitude of individual-level variations in demand coefficients: a Xenia Ohio case example". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. 17A (5), pp. 363-374.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and G.G. WOODWORTH (1983) "Design and analysis of simulated consumer choice or allocation experiments: an approach based on aggregate data". <u>Journal of Marketing Science</u>. Vol. **20** (4), pp. 350-367.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and G.J. GAETH (1986) "Decomposing the determinants of retail facility choice using the method of hierarchical information integration: a supermarket illustration". <u>Journal of Retailing</u>. Vol. **63** (1), pp. 25-48.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1990a) "A review of recent advances in decompositional preference and choice models". <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>. Vol. **LXXXI** (3), pp. 214-225.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1990b) "Using hierarchical information integration to model consumer responses to possible planning actions: recreation destination choice illustration". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 22 (3)</u>, pp. 291-308.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1990c) "Hierarchical information integration applied to residential choice processes". <u>Geographical Analysis</u>. Vol. **22** (2), pp. 127-145.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1992) "Testing the external validity of hierarchical conjoint analysis models of recreational destination choice". <u>Leisure Sciences</u>. Vol. 14, pp. 179-194.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and K. NORMAN (1977) "Applications on information processing theory to the analysis of urban travel demand". <u>Environment and Behaviour</u>. Vol. **9** (1), pp. 91-106.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and R. MEYER (1976) "A model for residential impression formation". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 8 (4), pp. 479-486.

LOUVIERE, J.J. and R. MEYER (1981) "A composite attitude behavioural model of traveller decision making". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **15B** (6), pp. 411-420.

LOUVIERE, J.J., D.H. HENLEY, G. WOODWORTH, R.J. MEYER, I.P. LEVIN, J.W. STONER, D.

CURRY and D.A. ANDERSON (1980) "Laboratory simulation versus revealed preference methods for estimating travel demand models". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **794**, pp. 42-51.

LUCE, R.D. (1959) Individual Choice Behaviour: A Theoretical Analysis. New York, John Wiley.

LUCE, R.D. (1977) "The choice axiom after twenty years". <u>Journal of Mathematical Psychology</u>. Vol. 15 (2), pp. 215-233.

LUCE, R.D. and P. SUPPES (1965) "Preference, utility, and subjective probability". In: R.D. LUCE, R.R. BUSH and E. GALANTER Eds. (1965) <u>Handbook of Mathematical Psychology III</u>. New York, John Wiley, pp. 249-410.

LUGER, M.I. and S. SHETTY (1985) "Determinants of foreign plant start-ups in the United States: lessons for policymakers in the Southeast". <u>Vanderbilt Journal of Transnational Law.</u> Vol. 18 (3), pp. 223-245.

LYNCH, J.G. (1985) "Uniqueness issues in the decompositional modeling of multiattribute overall evaluations". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. XXII (1), pp. 1-19.

MADDALA, G.S. (1983) <u>Limited Dependent and Qualitative Variables in Econometrics</u>. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

MAIER, G. and M.M. FISCHER (1985) "Random utility modelling and labour supply mobility analysis". <u>Papers of the Regional Science Association</u>. Vol. LVIII, pp. 21-34.

MALCZEWSKI, J. (1992) "Site selection problem and quasi-satisficing decision rule". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 24 (4), pp. 299-316.

MANRAI, A.K. and P. SINHA (1989) "Elimination-by-cutoffs". Marketing Science. Vol. 8 (2), pp. 133-152.

MANSKI, C.F. (1977) "The structure of random utility models". <u>Theory and Decision</u>. Vol. 8 (3), pp. 229-254.

MANSKI, C.F. (1981) "Structural models for discrete data: the analysis of discrete choice". In: S. LEINHARDT Ed. (1981) <u>Sociological Methodology 1981</u>. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass, pp. 58-109.

MANSKI, C.F. (1983) "Analysis of equilibrium automobile holdings in Israel with aggregate discrete choice models". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **17B** (4), pp. 373-389.

MANSKI, C.F. and S.R. LERMAN (1977) "The multinomial probit model". <u>Transportation</u> Research Record. No. **624**.

MARSCHAK, J. (1960) "Binary-choice contraints and random utility indicators". In: K. ARROW, S. KARLIN and P. SUPPES Eds. (1960) <u>Mathematical Methods in the Social Sciences</u>. Stanford, Stanford University Press, pp. 312-329.

McCARTHY, P.S. (1980) "A study of the importance of generalized attributes in shopping choice behaviour". Environment and Planning A. Vol. 12 (11), pp. 1269-1286.

McCONNELL, V.D. and R.M. SCHWAB (1990) "The impact of environmental regulation on industry location decisions: the motor vehicle industry". <u>Land Economics</u>. Vol. **66** (1), pp. 67-81.

McCULLAGH, P. and J.A. NELDER (1983) Generalized Linear Models. London, Chapman and Hall.

McDONALD, J.F. (1983) "Route choice and the value of commuting time: an economic model of dichotomous choice", <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. 17B (4), pp. 463-470.

McFADDEN, D. (1968) "The revealed preferences of a government bureaucracy". <u>Bell Journal of Economics and Management Science</u>. Vol. **7** (1), pp. 55-72.

McFADDEN, D. (1974) "Conditional logit analysis of qualitative choice behaviour". In: P.C. ZAREMBKA Ed. (1974) Frontiers in Econometrics. New York and London, Academic Press, pp. 105-142.

McFADDEN, D. (1976a) "A comment on discriminant analysis versus logit analysis". <u>Annals of Economic and Social Measurement</u>. Vol. 5 (4), pp. 511-523.

McFADDEN, D. (1976b) "Quantal choice analysis: a survey". <u>Annals of Economic and Social Measurement</u>. Vol. 5 (4), pp. 363-390.

McFADDEN, D. (1978) "Modelling the choice of residential location". In: A. KARLQVIST, L. LUNDQVIST, F. SNICKARS and J.W. WEIBULL Eds. (1978) <u>Spatial Interaction Theory and Planning Models</u>. Amsterdam, North-Holland Publishing Company, pp. 75-96.

McFADDEN, D. (1981) "Econometric models of probabilistic choice". In: C.F. MANSKI and D. McFADDEN Eds. (1981) Structural Analysis of Discrete Data with Econometric Applications. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press, pp. 198-272.

McFADDEN, D. (1984) "Econometric analysis of qualitative response models". In: Z. GRILICHES and M.D. INTRILIGATOR Eds. (1984) Handbook of Econometrics: Vol II. Amsterdam-New York-Oxford, North-Holland Publishing Company, pp. 1395-1457.

McFADDEN, D. (1987) "Regression based specification tests for the multinomial logit model". Journal of Econometrics. Vol. 34 (1), pp. 63-82.

McFADDEN, D. (1989) "A method of simulated moments of discrete response models without numerical integration". <u>Econometrica</u>, Vol. **57** (5), pp. 995-1026.

McFADDEN, D. and F. REID (1974) "Aggregate travel demand forecasting from disaggregated behavioral models". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **534**, pp. 24-37.

McLENNAN, D. and N.J. WILLIAMS (1980) "Revealed-preference theory and spatial choices: some limitations". <u>Environment and Planning A</u>. Vol. 12 (8), pp. 909-919.

MENCHIK, M.D. (1972) "Residential environmental preferences and choice: empirically validating preference measures". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 4 (4)</u>, pp. 445-458.

MEYER, R.J. and T.C. EAGLE (1981) "A parsimonious multinomial choice model recognizing alternative interdependence and context-dependent utility functions". <u>Working Paper 26-80-81</u>. Pittsburgh, Carnegie-Mellon University, Graduate School of Industrial Administration.

MEYER, R.J. and T.C. EAGLE (1982) "Context-dependent parameter instability in a disaggregate stochastic model of store choice". <u>Journal of Marketing Science</u>. Vol. **19** (1), pp. 62-71.

MILLER, E.J. and S.R. LERMAN (1979) "A model of retail location, scale and intensity".

Environment and Planning A. Vol. 11 (2), pp. 177-192.

MILLER, E.J. and S.R. LERMAN (1981) "Disaggregate modelling and decisions of retail firms: a case study of clothing retailers". <u>Environment and Planning A.</u> Vol. 13 (6), pp. 729-746.

MILLER, L. and R. RADNER (1970) "Demand and supply in U.S. higher education". <u>The American Economic Review</u>. Vol. LX (2), pp. 326-334.

MOLIN, E., H. OPPEWAL and H. TIMMERMANS (1994) "Woonvoorkeuren van woongroepen". Planologische Diskussiebijdragen (Deel 2). Delft, Stichting Planologische Diskussiedagen, pp. 579-588.

MOORE, L. (1988) "Stated preference analysis and new store location". In: N. WRIGLEY Ed. (1988) Store Choice, Store Location and Market Analysis. London, Routledge, pp. 203-224.

MOORE, L. (1990) "Segmentation of store choice models using stated preference". <u>Papers of the Regional Science Association</u>. Vol. LXIX, pp. 121-132.

MOORE, W.L. and D.R. LEHMANN (1989) "A paired comparison nested logit model individual preference structures". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. LIV, pp. 420-428.

NAKANISHI, M. and G. COOPER (1974) "Parameter estimation for a multiplicative competitive interaction model-least squares approach". <u>Journal of Marketing Research</u>. Vol. XI (3), pp. 303-311.

NARASIMHAN, R. (1979) "A fuzzy subset characterization of a site-selection problem". <u>Decision Sciences</u>. Vol. 10 (4), pp. 618-628.

NIJKAMP, P. (1987) "Discrete spatial choice analysis: editorial introduction". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 17 (1), pp. 1-2.

NORMAN, K.L. (1977) "Attributes in bus transportation: importance depends on trip purpose". <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>. Vol. **62** (1), pp. 164-170.

NORMAN, K.L. and J.J. LOUVIERE (1974) "Integration of attributes in bus transportation: two modelling approaches". <u>Journal of Applied Psychology</u>. Vol. **59**, pp. 753-758.

O'BRIEN, L.G. (1982) <u>Categorical Data Analysis for Geographical Research: With Applications to Public Sector Residential Mobility</u>. Bristol, University of Bristol, Department of Geography, Ph.D. thesis.

O'KELLY, M.E. and J.E. STORBECK (1984) "Hierarchical location models with probabilistic allocation". Regional Studies. Vol. 18 (2), pp. 121-129.

ONAKA, J.L. (1983) "A multi-attribute housing disequilibrium model of residential mobility". Environment and Planning A. Vol. 15 (6), pp. 751-765.

ONAKA, J.L. and W.A.V. CLARK (1983) "A disaggregate model of residential mobility and housing choice". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 15 (4), pp. 287-304.

OPPEWAL, H. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1991) "Context effects and decompositional choice modeling". <u>Papers in Regional Science - Journal of the Regional Science Association International</u>. Vol. **70** (2), pp. 113-131.

ORTUZAR, J. de D. (1982) "Fundamentals of discrete multimodal choice modelling". Transport

Reviews. Vol. 2 (1), pp. 47-78.

ORTUZAR, J. de D. (1983) "Nested logit models for mixed-mode travel in urban corridors". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **17A** (2), pp. 283-299.

OSTER, S. (1979) "Industrial search for new locations: an empirical analysis". <u>The Review of Economics and Statistics</u>. Vol. **LXI** (2), pp. 288-292.

OUM, T.H. (1979) "A warning of the use of linear logit models in transport mode choice studies". Bell Journal of Economics. Vol. 10 (3), pp. 374-388.

PARK, C.W., R.W. HUGHES, V. THUKRAL and R. FRIEDMANN (1981) "Consumers' decision plans and subsequent choice behaviour". <u>Journal of Marketing</u>. Vol. 45 (2), pp. 33-47.

PARKS, R.W. (1980) "On the estimation of multinomial logit models from relative frequency data". <u>Journal of Econometrics</u>. Vol. 13 (3), pp. 293-303.

PARODY, T.E. (1977) "Analysis of the predictive qualities of disaggregate modal choice models". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **637**, pp. 51-56.

PETERSON, G.L., J.F. DWYER and A.J. DARRAGH (1983) "A behavioral urban site choice model". <u>Leisure Sciences</u>. Vol. **6**, pp. 61-81.

PHIPPS, A.G. (1989) "Intended mobility responses to possible neighborhood change in an American, a British and a Canadian inner-urban area". <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>. Vol. **LXXX** (1), pp. 43-58.

PHIPPS, A.G. and J.E. CARTER (1984) "An individual-level analysis of the stress-resistance model of household mobility". <u>Geographical Analysis</u>. Vol. **16** (2), pp. 176-189.

PHIPPS, A.G. and J.E. CARTER (1985) "Individual differences in the residential preferences of inner-city households". <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>. Vol. **LXXVI** (1), pp. 32-42.

PHIPPS, A.G. and W.A.V. CLARK (1988) "Interactive recovery and validation of household's residential utility functions". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1988) Behavioural Modelling in Geography and Planning. Beckenham (Kent), Croom Helm, pp. 245-271.

POLLAKOWSKI, H. (1975) <u>A Conditional Logit Model of Residential Choice</u>. Washington, University of Washington.

PRESTON, V. (1988) "Recent advances in modeling spatial choice behavior". <u>Urban Geography</u>. Vol. **9** (4), pp. 429-434.

QUIGLEY, J.M. (1973) <u>Housing Demand in the Short Run: An Analysis of Polytomous Choice</u>. New Haven, Yale University Press.

QUIGLEY, J.M. (1976) "Housing demand in the short run: an analysis of polytomous choice". In: S. WINTER Ed. (1976) <u>Explorations in Economic Research</u>. Vol. 3 (1), pp. 76-93.

QUIGLEY, J.M. (1984) "The production of housing services and the derived demand for residential energy". Rand Journal of Economics. Vol. 15 (4), pp. 555-567.

QUIGLEY, J.M. (1985) "Consumer choice of dwelling, neighborhood and public services".

Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 15 (1), pp. 41-63.

RECKER, W.W. and H.J. SCHULER (1981) "Destination choice and processing spatial information: some empirical tests with alternative constructs". <u>Economic Geography</u>. Vol. **57** (4), pp. 373-383.

RECKER, W.W and T.F. GOLOB (1979) "A noncompensatory model of transportation behaviour based on sequential consideration of attributes". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **13B** (4), pp. 269-280.

RICHARDS, M.G. and M.E. BEN-AKIVA (1975) <u>A Disaggregate Travel Demand Model</u>. Farnborough (Hampshire), Saxon House.

RITZEN, J.M. and D. WINKLER (1977) "The revealed preferences of a local government. Black/white disparities in scholastic achievement". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. 4 (3), pp. 310-323.

ROSENBERG, M.J. (1956) "Cognitive structure and attitudinal effect". <u>Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology</u>. Vol. **53** (4), pp. 367-372.

ROSS, S.M. (1977) Introduction to Probability Models. New York, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.

ROUWENDAL, J. (1988) <u>Discrete Choice Models and Housing Market Analysis</u>. Elspeet, Nomen Nescio, Ph.D. thesis.

ROY, J.R. (1985) "On forecasting choice among dependent spatial alternatives". <u>Environment and Planning B. Vol. 12</u> (4), pp. 479-492.

RUST, J. (1988) "Statistical models of discrete choice processes". <u>Transportation Research.</u> Vol. **22B** (2), pp. 125-158.

SASAKI, K. (1982) "Travel demand and the evaluation of transportation system change: a reconsideration of the random utility approach". <u>Environment and Planning A</u>. Vol. **14** (2), pp. 169-182.

SCHMIDT, P. and R.P. STRAUSS (1975) "The prediction of occupation using multiple choice logit models". <u>International Economic Review</u>. Vol. 16, pp. 471-486.

SCHNEIDER, W. (1982) <u>Notes on the Construction and Computation of all Possible Decision</u> <u>Trees of Hierarchical K-step Decision Processes with N Alternative Results.</u> Dortmund, University of Dortmund.

SCHULER, H.J. (1979) "A disaggregate store-choice model of spatial decision-making". <u>The Professional Geographer</u>. Vol. **31** (2), pp. 146-156.

SCHULER, H.J. and D.H. PROSPERI (1978) "A conjoint measurement model of consumer spatial behaviour". Regional Science Perspectives. Vol. 8 (1), pp. 122-134.

SHELDON, R.J. and J.K. STEER (1982) "The use of conjoint analysis in transport research". Working Paper (presented to the 1982 PTRC Summer Annual Meeting). Warwick.

SHUKLA, V. and P. WADDELL (1991) "Firm location and land use in discrete urban space". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 21 (2), pp. 225-253.

SMALL, K.A. (1987) "A discrete choice model for ordered alternatives". Econometrica. Vol. 55

(2), pp. 409-424.

SMITH, T.E. (1975) "A choice theory of spatial interaction". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 5 (2), pp. 137-176.

SMTIH, T.E. and W. YU (1982) "A prominence theory of context-sensitive choice behavior". <u>Journal of Mathematical Sociology</u>. Vol. **8** (2), pp. 225-249.

SMITH, V.L. (1969) "Measuring nonmonetary utilities in uncertain choices: the Ellsberg Urn". The Quarterly Journal of Economics. Vol. LXXXIII (2), pp. 324-329.

SOBEL, K.L. (1981) "Travel demand forecasting by using the nested multinomial logit model". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. 775, pp. 48-55.

SONIS, M. (1984) "Dynamic choice of alternatives, innovation diffusion, and ecological dynamics of the Volterra-Lotka model". In: D.E. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. London, Pion Press, Papers in Regional Science, Series No. 14, pp. 29-43.

SONIS, M. (1992) "Analytical structure of discrete choice models. Intervention of active environment in the choice process". <u>The Annals of Regional Science</u>. Vol. **XXVI** (4), pp. 349-360.

SOUTHWORTH, F. (1981) "Calibration of multinomial logit models of mode and destination choice". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **15A** (4), pp. 315-325.

STANLEY, J.K. (1974) "A cardinal utility approach for project evaluation". <u>Socio-Economic Planning Science</u>. Vol. **8** (6), pp. 329-338.

STECKEL, J.H. and W.R. VANHONACKER (1988) "A heterogeneous conditional logit model of choice". <u>Journal of Business and Economic Statistics</u>. Vol. 6 (3), pp. 391-398.

STETZER, F. and A.G. PHIPPS (1977) "Spatial choice theory and spatial indifference: a comment". Geographical Analysis. Vol. 9 (4), pp. 400-403.

STRAUSS, D. (1979) "Some results on random utility models". <u>Journal of Mathematical Psychology</u>. Vol. **20** (1), pp. 35-52.

STRAUSS, D. (1981) "Choice by features: an extension of Luce's choice model to account for similarities". <u>British Journal of Mathematical and Statistical Psychology</u>. Vol. **34** (1), pp. 50-61.

STUTZ, F.P. and R.A. BUTTS (1976) "Environmental trade-offs for travel behavior". <u>The Professional Geographer</u>. Vol. **28** (1), pp. 167-171.

SUGIURA, Y. (1993) "Spatial diffusion of Japanese electric power companies, 1887-1906: a discrete choice modeling". <u>Annals of the Association of American Geographers</u>. Vol. **83** (4), pp. 641-655.

SUITS, D.B. (1984) "Dummy variables: mechanics vs. interpretation". <u>The Review of Economics and Statistics</u>. Vol. **LXVI** (1), pp. 177-180.

SWAIT, J. and M. BEN-AKIVA (1987a) "Incorporating random constraints in discrete models of choice set generation". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **21B** (2), pp. 91-102.

SWAIT, J. and M. BEN-AKIVA (1987b) "Empirical test of a constrained choice discrete model: mode choice in São Paulo, Brazil". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **21B** (2), pp. 103-115.

TALVITIE, A. (1972) "Comparison of probabilistic modal choice models: estimation methods and system inputs". <u>Highway Research Board Record</u>. No. **392**, pp. 111-120.

TARDIFF, T.J. (1980) "Definition of alternatives and representation of dynamic behaviour in spatial choice models". <u>Transportation Research Record</u>. No. **723**, pp. 25-30.

THEIL, H. (1969) "A multinomial extension of the linear logit model". <u>International Economic Review</u>. Vol. 10 (3), pp. 251-259.

THILL, J.-C. (1992) "Choice set formation for destination choice modelling". <u>Progress in Human</u> Geography, Vol. **16** (3), pp. 361-382.

THILL, J.-C. and Y. VAN DE VYVERE (1989) "Workplace and locational choice of residence: a hierarchical approach". <u>Sistemi Urbani</u>. Vol. 11 (2), pp. 339-365.

THOBANI, M. (1984) "A nested logit model of travel mode to work and auto ownership". Journal of Urban Economics. Vol. 15 (3), pp. 287-301.

THOMAS, K. (1976) "A reinterpretation of the 'attribute' approach to transport-mode choice and an exploratory empirical test". <u>Environment and Planning A.</u> Vol. 8 (6), pp. 793-810.

THURSTONE, L.L. (1927) "A law of comparative judgement". <u>Psychological Review - American Psychological Association</u>. Vol. **34** (4), pp. 273-286.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1980a) "Unidimensional conjoint measurement models and consumer decision-making processes". Area. Vol. 10 (4), pp. 391-400.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1980b) "Consumer spatial choice strategies: a comparative study of some alternative behavioural spatial shopping models". <u>Geoforum</u>. Vol. 11 (1), pp. 123-131.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1981) "Spatial choice behaviour in different environmental settings: an application of the revealed preference approach". <u>Geografiska Annaler B. Vol. 63</u> (1), pp. 57-67.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1982) "Consumer choice of shopping centre: an information integration approach". Regional Studies. Vol. 16 (3), pp. 171-182.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1983) "Noncompensatory decision rules and consumer spatial choice behavior: a test of predictive ability". <u>The Professional Geographer</u>. Vol. **35** (4), pp. 449-454.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1984a) "Decompositional multiattribute preference models in spatial choice analysis: a review of some recent development". <u>Progress in Human Geography</u>. Vol. 8 (2), pp. 189-221.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1984b) "Decision models for predicting preferences among multiattribute choice alternatives". In: G. BAHRENBERG, M. FISCHER and P. NIJKAMP Eds. (1984) Recent Developments in Spatial Data Analysis: Methodology, Measurement, Models. Aldershot and Brookfield, Gower, pp. 337-354.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1984c) "Discrete choice models versus decompositional multiattribute preference models: a comparative analysis of model performance in the context of spatial shopping behaviour". In: D.E. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. London, Pion Press, Papers in Regional Science, Series No. 14, pp. 88-101.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1985) "Variety-seeking models and recreational choice behaviour".

Working Paper (presented at the Pacific Regional Science Conference). Molokai (Hawaii).

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1986) "Locational choice behaviour of entrepreneurs: an experimental analysis". <u>Urban Studies</u>. Vol. **23** (3), pp. 231-240.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1987a) "Individuele beslissingsmodellen vervoerwijzekeuze 1: compensatorische en noncompensatorische beslissingsregels". <u>Verkeerskunde</u>. Vol. 38, pp. 304-309.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1987b) "Individuele beslissingsmodellen vervoerwijzekeuze 2: decompositionele multiattribuut preferentie modellen". <u>Verkeerskunde</u>. Vol. **38**, pp. 350-353.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1987c) "Hybrid and non-hybrid evaluation models for predicting outdoor recreation behaviour: a test of predictive ability". <u>Leisure Sciences</u>. Vol. **9**, pp. 67-76.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1988a) "Multipurpose trips and individual choice behaviour: an analysis using experimental design data". In: R.G. GOLLEDGE and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1988) Behavioural Modelling in Geography and Planning. Beckenham (Kent), Croom Helm, pp. 356-367.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1988b) "Multi-attribuut preferentie en beslissingsmodellen: theorie, methoden en toepassingen". In: A.G.M. VAN DER SMAGT and P.H.J. HENDRIKS Eds. (1988) Methoden op een Keerpunt. Amsterdam and Nijmegen, Koninklijk Nederlands Aardrijkskundig Genootschap, Nederlandse Geografische Studies 77, pp. 13-38.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. (1989) "Een decompositioneel hierarchisch model voor woningkeuze: theorie en illustratie". In: S. MUSTERD Ed. (1989) Methoden voor Woning- en Woonmilieubehoefte Onderzoek. Amsterdam, Stichting Interuniversitair Instituut voor Sociaal-Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek (publikatie 340), pp. 46-72.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and A. BORGERS (1985a) "Choice set constraints and spatial decision-making processes". <u>Sistemi Urbani</u>. Vol. 7 (3), pp. 211-220.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P and A. BORGERS (1985b) <u>Spatial Choice Models: Fundamentals, Trends and Prospects</u>. Eindhoven, University of Technology Eindhoven, Department of Architecture, Building and Planning.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and A. BORGERS (1989) "Dynamic models of choice behaviour: some fundamentals and trends". In: J. HAUSER, H. TIMMERMANS and N. WRIGLEY Eds. (1989) <u>Urban Dynamics and Spatial Choice Behaviour</u>. Theory and Decision Library (Vol. 49), Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 3-26.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and K.J. VELDHUISEN (1980) "A spatial choice model of consumer behavior: aspects of calibration and application". <u>Regional Science Perspectives</u>. Vol. **10** (2), pp. 54-70.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN (1984) "The predictive ability of alternative decision rules in decompositional multiattribute preference models". <u>Sistemi Urbani</u>. Vol. 1 (1), pp. 89-101.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN (1987) "Research note: Uncovering spatial decision-making processes: a decision net approach applied to recreation choice behaviour". <u>Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie</u>. Vol. **LXXVIII** (4), pp. 297-304.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and R.G. GOLLEDGE (1990) "Applications of behaviourial research on

spatial problems II: preference and choice". Progress in Human Geography. Vol. 14 (3), pp. 311-354.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P. and T.H. OVERDUIN (1980) "Informatic integratic en vervoermiddelkeuze: theorie en toepassing". <u>Verkeerskunde</u>. Vol. 31, pp. 321-325.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., A. BORGERS and P. VAN DER WAERDEN (1991) "Mother logit analysis of substitution effects in consumer shopping destination choice". <u>Journal of Business Research</u>. Vol. **23** (3), pp. 311-323.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., A. BORGERS and P. VAN DER WAERDEN (1992) "Choice experiments versus revealed choice models: a before-after study of consumer spatial shopping behavior". The Professional Geographer. Vol. 44 (4), pp. 406-416.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN and A. BORGERS (1984) "Noncompensatorische beslissingsregels en individueel keuzegedrag: enkele empirische analyses". Working Paper (presented at Geografendagen te Groningen). Groningen, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN and H. WESTERVELD (1982) "The identification of factors influencing destination choice: an application of the repertory grid methodology". <u>Transportation</u>. Vol. 11 (2), pp. 189-203.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN and H. WESTERVELD (1983) "Conjoint measurement of individual preference functions: some tests of validity". <u>Area.</u> Vol. **15** (3), pp. 245-250.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN and H. WESTERVELD (1984a) "Decision-making between multiattribute choice alternatives: a model of spatial shopping-behaviour using conjoint measurement". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 16 (3)</u>, pp. 377-387.

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., R.E.C.M. VAN DER HEIJDEN and H. WESTERVELD (1984b) "Decision-making experiments and real-world choice behaviour". <u>Geografiska Annaler B. Vol. **66** (1), pp. 39-48.</u>

TIMMERMANS, H.J.P., A. BORGERS, J. VAN DIJK and H. OPPEWAL (1992) "Residential choice behaviour of dual earner households: a decompositional joint choice model". Environment and Planning A. Vol. 24 (4), pp. 517-533.

TOBIN, J. (1958) "Estimation of relationships for limited dependent variables". <u>Econometrica</u>. Vol. 26 (1), pp. 24-36.

TOFT, H.I., P.A. CASSIDY and W.O. McCARTHY (1970) "Sensitivity testing and the plant location problem". <u>American Journal of Agricultural Economics</u>, Vol. **52** (3), pp. 403-410.

TRAIN, K. (1980) "A structured logit model of auto ownership and mode choice". Review of Economic Studies. Vol. 47 (2), pp. 357-370.

TRAIN, K. (1986) Qualitative Choice Analysis: Theory, Econometrics, and an Application to Automobile Demand. Cambridge (Mass.) and London, MIT Press.

TSE, Y.K. (1989) "A proportional random utility approach to qualitative response models". <u>Journal of Business and Economic Statistics</u>. Vol. **7** (1), pp. 61-65.

TVERSKY, A. (1972a) "Elimination by aspects: a theory of choice". Psychological Review -

American Psychological Association. Vol. 79 (4), pp. 281-299.

TVERSKY, A. (1972b) "Choice by elimination". <u>Journal of Mathematical Psychology</u>. Vol. 9 (3), pp. 341-367.

TVERSKY, A. and S. SATTATH (1979) "Preference trees". <u>Psychological Review - American Psychological Association</u>. Vol. **86** (6), pp. 542-573.

VAN DER HEIJDEN, R.E.C.M. (1982) <u>Ruimtelijke Informatievelden van Consumenten: Een Empirische Analyze met Behulp van Logit-regressie</u>. Eindhoven, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, Vakgroep Urbanistiek en Ruimtelijke Organisatie.

VAN DER HEIJDEN, R.E.C.M. (1986) <u>A Decision Support System for the Planning of Retail Facilities: Theory, Methodology and Application</u>. Eindhoven, Wibro, Ph.D. thesis.

VAN DER HEIJDEN, R.E.C.M. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1984) "Modeling choice-set-generating processes via stepwise logit regression procedures: some empirical results". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 16</u> (12), pp. 1249-1255.

VAN DER HEIJDEN, R.E.C.M. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1988a) "The spatial transferability of a decompositional multi-attribute preference model". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 20 (8)</u>, pp. 1013-1025.

VAN DER HEIJDEN, R.E.C.M. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1988b) <u>Variatie-zoekend Ruimtelijk</u> <u>Keuzegedrag van Openluchtrecreanten: Theorie, Modelvorming en Empirische Analyses</u>. Eindhoven, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, Faculteit Bouwkunde.

VAN DER KNAAP, B. and D. AMENT (1983) "Logit analyse van migratiebewegingen in Rotterdam". In: D. OP 'T VELD, T. VAN DER SMAGT and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS Eds. (1983) Waar Harde Data Ontbreken. Utrecht, Bohn, Scheltema and Holkema, pp. 150-169.

VAN DINTEREN, J.H.J. and R.F. REITSMA (1986) "Keuzemodellen in het onderzoek naar de vestigingsplaats van kantoorondernemers". In: J.H.J. VAN DINTEREN and H.W. TER HART Eds. (1986) Geografie & Kantoren 1985. Verslag van een congres gehouden te Nijmegen op 29 november 1985. Amsterdam and Nijmegen. Koninklijk Nederlands Aardrijkskundig Genootschap. Nederlandse Geografische Studies 21, pp. 83-97.

VAN LIEROP, W.F.J. (1981) <u>Towards a New Disaggregate Model for the Housing Market</u>. Research Memorandum 1981-1. Amsterdam, Free University, Department of Economics.

VAN LIEROP, W.F.J. (1985) <u>Spatial Interaction Modelling and Residential Choice Analysis</u>. Amsterdam, University of Amsterdam, Ph.D. thesis.

VAN LIEROP, W.F.J. and A. RIMA (1984) "Residential mobility and probit analysis". In: G. BAHRENBERG, M.M. FISCHER and P. NIJKAMP Eds. (1984) Recent Development in Spatial Data Analysis: Methodology, Measurement, Models. Aldershot, Gower, pp. 393-407.

VAN LIEROP, W.F.J. and A. RIMA (1985) "Trends and prospects of qualitative disaggregate spatial choice models". In: P. NIJKAMP, H. LEITNER and N. WRIGLEY Eds. (1985) Measuring the Unmeasurable: The Analysis of Qualitative Spatial Data. Dordrecht, Martinus Nijhoff, pp. 533-560.

VAN LIEROP, W.F.J. and P. NIJKAMP (1982) "Disaggregate models of choice in a spatial context". Sistemi Urbani. Vol. 3 (3), pp. 331-369.

VAN LIEROP, W.F.J. and P. NIJKAMP (1984) "Perspectives of disaggregate choice models in the housing market". In: D.A. PITFIELD Ed. (1984) <u>Discrete Choice Models in Regional Science</u>. London, Pion, pp. 141-162.

VELDHUISEN, K.J. (1979) "De meting en verklaring van woonwaardering". Mens en Maatschappii. Vol. 54, pp. 144-170.

VELDHUISEN, K.J. (1984) "An application of a linear logit regression model to residential mobility". In: G. BAHRENBERG, M.M. FISCHER and P. NIJKAMP Eds. (1984) Recent Development in Spatial Data Analysis: Methodology, Measurement, Models. Aldershot, Gower, pp. 289-302.

VELDHUISEN, K.J. (1985) "The use of biproportional fitting and logit models to estimate the demand for different dwellings by populations of small areas". In: G. BAHRENBERG and J. DEITERS Eds. (1985) Methodology, Models and Methods in Regional Science. Osnabruck, OSG-Materialien Nr. 5.

VELDHUISEN, K.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1981) "Voorkeuren en waarderingen: toesting van een drietal meetsystemen". Mens en Maatschappij. Vol. 56, pp. 275-293.

VELDHUISEN, K.J. and H.J.P. TIMMERMANS (1984) "Specification of individual residential utility functions: a comparative analysis of three measurement procedures". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 16</u> (12), pp. 1573-1582.

VITON, P.A. (1992) "On frontier specifications for discrete binary choice analysis". <u>Journal of Regional Science</u>. Vol. **32** (3), pp. 285-308.

WARDMAN, M. (1986) "Route choice and the value of motorists' travel time: empirical findings". Working Paper 224. Leeds, University of Leeds, Institute for Transport Studies.

WARDMAN, M. (1988) "A comparison of revealed preference and stated preference models of travel behaviour". <u>Journal of Transport Economics and Policy</u>. Vol. XXII (1), pp. 71-91.

WARNER, S.L. (1962) <u>Stochastic Choice of Mode in Urban Travel: A Study in Binary Choice</u>. Evanston (III.), Northwestern University Press.

WATSON, P.L. (1974a) "Choice of estimation procedure for models of binary choice: some statistical and empirical evidence". Regional and Urban Economics. Vol. 4 (2), pp. 187-200.

WATSON, P.L. (1974b) <u>The Value of Time: Behavioral Models of Modal Choice</u>. Lexington, D.C. Heath.

WATSON, P.L. and R. WESTIN (1975) "Transferability of disaggregate mode choice models". Regional Science and Urban Economics. Vol. 5 (2), pp. 227-249.

WEBBER, M.J. (1975) "Entropy-maximizing location models for nonindependent events". Environment and Planning A. Vol. 7 (1), pp. 99-108.

WEIDLICH, W. and G. HAAG (1983) <u>Concepts and Models of a Quantitative Sociology</u>. Berlin, Springer Verlag.

WHITE, M.J. (1988) "Location choice and commuting behavior in cities with decentralized employment". <u>Journal of Urban Economics</u>. Vol. **24** (2), pp. 129-152.

WIGNER, M. (1973) "Disaggregate model choice models of downtown trips in the Chicago

region". Chicago Area Transportation Study. Chicago, CATS, Nr. 341-05.

WILLIAMS, H.C.W.L. (1977) "On the formulation of travel demand models and economic evaluation measures of user benefit". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 9 (3)</u>, pp. 285-344.

WILLIAMS, H.C.W.L. (1981) "Random utility theory and probabilistic choice models". In: A.G. WILSON, J.D. COELHO, S.M. McGILL and H.C.W.L. WILLIAMS Eds. (1981) Optimization in Locational and Transport Analysis. Chichester, John Wiley, pp. 46-84.

WILLIAMS, H.C.W.L. and J. de D. ORTUZAR (1982) "Behavioural theories of dispersion and the mis-specification of travel models". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **16B** (3), pp. 167-219.

WILLS, M.J. (1986) "A generalised extreme value model admitting substitution and complementarity between alternatives". <u>Transportation Research</u>. Vol. **20B** (2), pp. 113-123.

WILSON, A.G. (1970) Entropy in Urban and Regional Modelling. London, Pion Press.

WILSON, A.G. (1974) <u>Urban and Regional Models in Geography and Planning</u>. London, John Wiley.

WOODWARD, D.P. (1992) "Locational determinants of Japanese manufacturing start-ups in the United States". <u>Southern Economic Journal</u>. Vol. **LVIII** (3), pp. 690-708.

WRIGLEY, N. (1980) "Paired-comparison experiments and logit models: a review and illustration of some recent developments". <u>Environment and Planning A. Vol. 12 (1)</u>, pp. 21-40.

WRIGLEY, N. (1982) "Quantitative methods: developments in discrete choice modelling". Progress in Human Geography. Vol. 6 (4), pp. 547-562.

WRIGLEY, N. (1985) <u>Categorical Data Analysis for Geographers and Environmental Scientists</u>. London, Longman.

WRIGLEY, N. (1986) "Quantitative methods: the era of longitudinal data analysis". <u>Progress in Human Geography</u>. Vol. **10** (1), pp. 84-102.

WRIGLEY, N. and P. LONGLEY (1984) "Discrete choice modelling in urban analysis". In: D.T. HERBERT and R.J. JOHNSTON Eds. (1984) Geography and the Urban Environment: Progress in Research and Applications (Vol. 3). Chichester, John Wiley.

YELLOTT, J.I. Jr. (1977) "The relationship between Luce's choice axiom, Thurstone's theory of comparative judgement, and the double exponential distribution". <u>Journal of Mathematical Psychology</u>. Vol. 15 (1), pp. 109-144.

LIJST VAN RECENTE SESO-RAPPORTEN

- DE BORGER B. & K. KERSTENS, Cost efficiency of Belgian local governments: a comparative analysis of FDH, DEA and econometric approaches, January 1994, 26 blz. (94/296)
- KONINGS J., The effects of unions on employment behaviour in the U.K.: evidence from firm level panel data, January 1994, 29 blz. (94/297)
- KONINGS J., Do small plants really create most jobs? Testing convergence of establishments in the U.K., March 1994, 29 blz. (94/298)
- CORTENS I., <u>Herwaardering van het leerkrachtenambt</u>, maart 1994, 56 blz. (94/299)
- JANSSENS I., <u>Macro-economische indicatoren van het RIZIV binnen het stelsel van de Sociale Zekerheid</u>, april 1994, 40 blz. (94/300)
- DE BORGER B., MAYERES I., PROOST S. & S. WOUTERS, SOCIAL COST PRICING OF URBAN PASSENGER TRANSPORT with an illustration for Belgium, April 1994, 53 blz. (94/301)
- DE GRAEVE D. & W. NONNEMAN, <u>De economische kosten van AIDS en HIV-infectie in België. Een situatieschets voor 1993,</u> mei 1994, 25 blz. (94/302)
- DE GRAEVE D. & W. NONNEMAN, Pharmacoeconomic studies: pitfalls and problems, June 1994, 21 blz. (94/303)
- DE BORGER B. & K. KERSTENS, <u>Produktiviteit en efficientie in de Belgische publieke sector : situering en resultaten van recent onderzoek</u>, juni 1994, 40 blz. (94/304)
- schroyen F., <u>Informational feasibility</u>, <u>decentralization and public finance mechanisms</u>, July 1994, 35 blz. (94/305)
- VAN GOMPEL J., Optimal wage indexation with exchange rate uncertainty in an oligopolistic and unionized economy, July 1994, 22 blz. (94/306)
- VANDENBUSSCHE H., Twin cases: Cartels and European antidumping policy, August 1994, 40 blz. (94/307)
- VANHOUDT P., Wat denken economen over lange-termijn economische groei? Een overzicht, augustus 1994, 32 p. (94/308)
- **KESENNE S., Win maximization and the distribution of playing** talent in professional team sports, September 1994, 22 p. (94/309)
- KONINGS J. & W. NONNEMAN, <u>Hoe verschillen opvattingen over wat</u> "fair" is tussen economen en niet-economen?, September 1994, 27 p. (94/310)